
South Hams Executive

Title: Agenda
Date: Thursday, 14th March, 2019

Time: 10.00 am

Venue: Repton Room - Follaton House

Full Members: Chairman Cllr Tucker
Vice Chairman Cllr Wright

Members: Cllr Bastone
Cllr Gilbert

Cllr Hopwood
Cllr Wingate

Interests – 
Declaration and 
Restriction on 
Participation:

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interest not entered in the Authority's 
register or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any 
item of business on the agenda (subject to the exception for 
sensitive information) and to leave the meeting prior to 
discussion and voting on an item in which they have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest.

Committee 
administrator:

Member.Services@swdevon.gov.uk



Page No

1.  Minutes 1 - 12

to approve as a correct record and authorise the Chairman to 
sign the minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 7 
February 2019;

2.  Urgent Business

brought forward at the discretion of the Chairman;

3.  Division of Agenda

to consider whether the discussion of any item of business is 
likely to lead to the disclosure of exempt information;

4.  Declarations of Interest

Members are invited to declare any personal or disclosable 
pecuniary interests, including the nature and extent of such 
interests they may have in any items to be considered at this 
meeting;

5.  Public Question Time 13 - 14

a period of up to 15 minutes is available to deal with questions 
submitted to the Council in accordance with the Executive 
Procedure Rules;

6.  Draft Executive Forward Plan 15 - 18

7.  Ivybridge Development Proposal Update 19 - 52

8.  Community Housing Delivery - Capital Requirements 53 - 68

9.  Public Toilet Project 69 - 78

10.  Peer Challenge Action Plan 79 - 102

11.  Customer Satisfaction Action Plan Progress 103 - 112

12.  Grounds Maintenance Review 113 - 116

13.  Employee Terms and Conditions of Employment 117 - 128



Page No

14.  Exclusion of Public and Press

- to consider the following resolution to exclude the public and
press:-

“That in accordance with Section 100(A)(4) of the Local
Government Act 1972, the public and press be excluded from the
meeting during consideration of the following items of business in
order to avoid the likely disclosure to them of exempt information
as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act”;

15.  Coastal Assets Service Update 129 - 136

16.  Accommodation Strategy - Follaton House 137 - 156





Executive 07.02.19

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF
THE EXECUTIVE

HELD AT FOLLATON HOUSE ON THURSDAY 7 FEBRUARY 2019

Members in attendance:
* Denotes attendance

Ø Denotes apologies for absence
* Cllr H D Bastone * Cllr R J Tucker (Chairman)
* Cllr R D Gilbert * Cllr S A E Wright (Vice Chairman)
* Cllr N A Hopwood * Cllr K R H Wingate

Also in attendance and participating
Item 7 E.67/18 Cllrs Baldry and Pearce 
Item 10 E.70/18 Cllrs Baldry and Pearce 
Item 11 E.71/18 Cllrs Hodgson and Vint
Item 12 E.72/18 Cllrs Baldry, Green and Pennington
Item 13 E.73/18 Cllrs Baldry, Brazil, Hodgson and Pearce
Item 14 E.74/18 Cllr Green 
Item 15 E.75/18 Cllr Pearce
Item 16 E.76/18 Cllrs Baldry, Brazil, Green, Hodgson, Pearce and Vint

Also in attendance and not participating
Cllrs Bramble, Holway, Rowe and Steer

Officers in attendance and participating
All items Group Manager Customer First and Support Services, 

s151 Officer and Specialist – Democratic Services 
Item 7 E.67/18 Commissioning Manager
Item 13 E.73/18 Commissioning Manager (Waste), Group Manager 

Commercial Services
Item 14 E.74/18 Senior Specialist, Environmental Health
Item 16 E.75/18 Group Manager Commercial Services, Environment 

Services Head of Practice
Item 17 E.76/18 Group Manager Commercial Services, Environment 

Services Head of Practice

E.63/18 MINUTES

The minutes of the Executive meeting held on 13 December 2018 were 
confirmed as a true and correct record and signed off by the Chairman.

By way of an update, the Chairman made reference to minute E.62/18:  
Commercial Development Opportunities, whereby it was stated that an 
update would be provided at the meeting on 7 February 2019 in respect of 
the proposals for Leonard’s Road Car Park, Ivybridge, and he advised that 
a full report would be presented to the meeting of the Executive on 14 
March 2019.



Executive 07.02.19

E.64/18 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Members and officers were invited to declare any interests in the items of 
business to be considered during the course of this meeting but none 
were made.

It should be noted that in light of Executive Procedure Rule 1.9.4 
(below):

‘Where a decision relates to an Executive Members’ local ward, that 
Member may take part in the discussion, but will abstain from any vote 
on the item.’

the Council’s Deputy Monitoring Officer had previously granted the 
Leader and Cllrs Bastone, Gilbert and Wright a Dispensation to be able 
to take part in the vote on agenda items relating to the Public Toilet 
Review (Agenda Item 16: ‘Public Toilet Project’ (Minute E.76/18 below 
refers).  It was noted that this Dispensation would be in force until the 
next Annual Council meeting in May 2019.

E.65/18 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME

It was noted that no public questions had been received in accordance 
with the Executive Procedure Rules, for consideration at this meeting.

E.66/18 EXECUTIVE FORWARD PLAN

Members were presented with the Executive Forward Plan setting out 
items on the agenda for Executive meetings for the next four months 
and noted its content without any comment.  

E.67/18         CUSTOMER SATISFACTION – VERBAL UPDATE

The Lead Executive Member for Customer First provided a verbal 
update on the actions being implemented by officers to address 
customer satisfaction issues.  He provided a number of statistics in 
respect of call volumes that evidenced how numbers were reducing, 
enabling more calls to be answered inside target timescales.  The 
website now had a feedback button for customers, and solutions were 
being investigated that would enable customers to be contacted to 
assess feedback.  There was a focus on the high volume areas 
including waste.  In Development Management, measures were being 
introduced that would see more communication with customers.  Next 
steps were to make status updates available as an online function.
A new process was being rolled out in respect of how complaints were 
dealt with, and more detail would be shared in the coming months.



Executive 07.02.19

One Member stated that it would have been helpful to have received 
the update as a written report in advance of this meeting.  Another 
Member asked that Ward Members and Town and Parish Councillors 
have access to the status updates on planning applications.  

Finally, the Lead Member for Customer First confirmed that this had 
been an interim update and a full report would be presented to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel in due course. 

E.68/18         REPORTS OF OTHER BODIES

RESOLVED

That the following be received and that any recommendations 
contained therein be approved:

a) Joint Development Management and Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel – 24 January 2019

i. OSDM.2/18  DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT – 
PERFORMANCE UPDATE

 
It was then:

RESOLVED 

That Council be RECOMMENDED that:  

1. the actions being taken to secure improved 
performance within the Development Management 
Service be endorsed;

2. as part of the 2019/20 Budget Setting process, 
support be given to the addition of a Level 5 
Specialist, at a cost of £29,000, within the 
Development Management service (to be funded 
through planning income); and

3. in the event of recommendation 2 (above) being 
approved, a further service capacity review be 
undertaken by the Overview and Scrutiny Panel six 
months after the additional Level 5 Specialist takes up 
their post.

ii. OSDM.3/18 REVIEW OF FEES AND CHARGES 



Executive 07.02.19

RESOLVED 

That Council be RECOMMENDED that:

1. the proposed fees and charges set out for Parks, 
Open Spaces and Outdoor Sports (as outlined in 
Appendix A of the presented agenda report) be 
approved;

2. the proposed Environmental Health Charges (as 
outlined in Appendix B of the presented agenda 
report) be approved;

3. the proposed Fees and Charges for Development 
Management (as set out in Appendix C of the 
presented agenda report) be approved;

4. delegated authority be given to the Group Manager 
for Commercial Services and Section 151 Officer, in 
consultation with the lead Executive Member, to set 
the Dartmouth Lower Ferry Fees to take account of 
market conditions, including competitor charges;

5. there are no changes to the Car Park Charges for 
2019/20, except for where this has been agreed as an 
alternative to the implementation of Pay on Entry at 
public toilets (NB. a report will be presented to the 
Executive in this respect in due course);

6. the proposed changes to Boat Storage Charges (as 
set out in paragraph 3.7 of the presented agenda 
report) be approved;

7. delegated authority is given to the Group Manager for 
Commercial Services and Section 151 Officer, in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder, to set the 
Commercial Waste charges, once all the price 
modelling factors are known; and

8. officers undertake a review into all aspects of fees and 
charges related to zoo licensing, with these being 
reported back to the joint Budget Consultation 
meeting in January 2020.

iii. OSDM.4/18  BUDGET PROPOSALS FOR 2019/20 
ONWARDS UPDATE

The Executive noted the recommendations under this 
item for consideration with the Budget report later on 
the agenda (Item 9:  Revenue Budget Proposals 
2019/20)

It was then:

RESOLVED 

That Council be RECOMMENDED that the joint meeting 
supports:-



Executive 07.02.19

1. the increase in Council Tax for 2019/20 of £5 (as 
outlined at paragraph 3.4 of the presented agenda 
report);

2. the financial pressures amounting to £1,354,700 (as 
shown in Appendix A of the presented agenda report);

3. the net contributions to/from Earmarked Reserves 
amounting to £782,300 (as shown in Appendix E of the 
presented agenda report);

4. the proposed savings of £1,060,226 for 2019/20 (as 
shown in Appendix A of the presented agenda report);

5. the proposed use of £500,000 of New Homes Bonus 
funding to balance the 2019/20 Revenue Budget (as 
shown in Appendix E of the presented agenda report); 
and

6. the following measures being implemented to close the 
predicted 2019/20 Budget Gap of £75,007:
- reduce the contribution to the Planning Policy and 
Major Developments from £75,000 to £50,000;
- remove the £7,000 allocated to the ‘Communities 
Together Fund’; and
- reduce the contribution to the Land and Development 
Reserve from £50,000 to £7,000.

iv. OSDM.5/18  CAPITAL BUDGET PROPOSALS FOR 
2019/20 

The Executive noted the recommendations under this 
item for consideration with the Budget report later on 
the agenda (Item 11:  Revenue Budget Proposals 
2019/20 Onwards Update Report)

It was then:

RESOLVED 

That Council be RECOMMENDED that the joint meeting 
supports:-

1. the content of the Capital Programme Proposals for 
2019/20 that totals £1,290,000 (as set out in 
Appendix A of the presented agenda report);

2. the content of the Capital Programme Proposals for 
2019/20 that totals £14,001,000 (as set out in 
exempt Appendix B of the presented agenda report); 
and

3. the proposed financing of the 2019/20 Capital 
Programme of £15,291,000 from the funding sources 
(as set out in Section 4 of the presented agenda 
report).

b) Overview and Scrutiny Panel – 24 January 2019



Executive 07.02.19

i) O&S.77/18 CAR PARKING PAY AND DISPLAY 
MACHINES – METRIC GROUP REPRESENTATIVES

RESOLVED

That the Council be RECOMMENDED that officers 
consider, as a matter of urgency, the appointment of a 
new company to provide and maintain the Council’s Car 
Parking Pay and Display Machines, with a progress 
report being presented to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel at its meeting on 13 June 2019.

ii) O&S.80/18 PROCESS FOR SPENDING SECTION 106 
FUNDING FOR AFFORDABLE HOUSING

RESOLVED

That the current process for spending Section 106 
Affordable Housing monies be retained.

iii) O&S.82/18 CORPORATE STRATEGY

RESOLVED

That the proposed actions (as detailed in Section 5 of the 
presented agenda report) be endorsed.

E.69/18 QUARTER 3 REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 2018/2019

The Executive was presented with a report that enabled Members to 
monitor income and expenditure variations against the approved 
budget for 2018/19, and provided a forecast for the year end position.  

The Deputy Leader introduced the report and responded to a number 
of queries.

It was then:

RESOLVED

1. That the forecast income and expenditure variations for the 
2018/19 financial year and the overall projected overspend 
of £62,000 (0.7% of the total Budget £8.983 million) be 
endorsed; and

2. That Council be RECOMMENDED to transfer the 
underspend on Homelessness Prevention into the 
Homelessness Earmarked Reserve at the end of the 
2018/19 financial year (currently expected to be £30,000).



Executive 07.02.19

E.70/18 CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING 

Members were presented with a report that advised them of progress 
on individual schemes within the approved Capital Programme, 
including an assessment of their financial position.  

It was noted that the monitoring of the Capital Programme at Month 9 
(end of December 2018) had not highlighted any significant areas of 
concern to report to Members.  The majority of capital projects were 
within the existing capital budgets approved by Members.  One of the 
schemes was overspent £2,342 (this equated to 0.08% of the 2018/19 
capital budget of £2,991,486 and was detailed in Appendix A of the 
presented agenda report.

The Deputy Leader introduced the report.

It was then:

RESOLVED 

1. That the content of the report be endorsed; and

2. That Council be RECOMMENDED that £115,000 of the 
remaining capital programme contingency budget of 
£248,399 be approved to be allocated to the two capital 
projects set out in exempt Appendix B of the report as 
shown below:

- Salcombe Fish Quay Improvements; and
- Modbury Millennium Bridge

E.71/18 BUDGET PROPOSALS FOR 2019/20 ONWARDS UPDATE REPORT

Members were presented with a report that set out the budget 
proposals for a balanced budget for 2019/20.  The Council was 
currently forecasting a budget gap of £0.47 million for 2020/21.

The Leader introduced the report and stated that all Members had the 
opportunity to input into the process at the Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel and Development Management Committee meeting held on 24 
January 2019.

During discussion, one Member raised that surplus New Homes Bonus 
Funds should be invested back into areas of the community that 
needed social and affordable housing.  In response, the Leader advised 
that he expected a report to be forthcoming to the next meeting of the 
Executive in March 2019 that related to housing projects.

Members then agreed that the letter written by the Leader to Ministers 
in respect of the council tax loophole was excellent.  The Deputy 
Leader advised that copies had been sent to the MPs and the Housing 



Executive 07.02.19

Minister and would be followed up.  One Member felt that the Council 
could go further and support a proposal to double council tax on second 
homes.

It was then:

RESOLVED 

That Council be RECOMMENDED:

(i) To increase Council Tax by £5 for 2019/20 (which 
equates to a Band D council tax of £165.42 for 2019/20, 
an increase of £5 per year or 10 pence per week – as 
shown in paragraph 3.4 of the presented agenda report). 
This equates to a Council Tax Requirement of 
£6,315,689; 

(ii)  To approve the financial pressures shown in Appendix A 
of the presented agenda report (amounting to 
£1,383,700);

(iii)  To approve the net contributions to/from Earmarked 
Reserves of £714,300 as per Appendix E of the 
presented agenda report; 

(iv)  To approve the proposed savings of £1,067,226 for 
2019/20 as shown in Appendix A of the presented 
agenda report; 

(v)  To approve the proposed use of £500,000 of New 
Homes Bonus funding to balance the 2019/20 Revenue 
Budget as shown in Appendix E of the presented agenda 
report;

    
(vi) To agree the Collection Fund Surplus of £112,000 as 

shown in Appendix B of the presented agenda report;

(vii) To delegate to the S151 Officer, in consultation with the 
Leader and Executive Member for Finance, to agree the 
final amount of New Homes Bonus funding for the 
Dartmoor National Park Sustainable Community Fund for 
2019/20;

(viii) That the Council Tax Support Grant paid to Town and 
Parish Councils is reduced by 9.85% for 2019/20 as per 
Appendix A of the presented agenda report. This 
equates to a payment of £74,473 for 2019/20;

(ix)  That the Council should set its total net expenditure for 
2019/20 as shown in Appendix B of the presented 
agenda report as £8,832,752; 



Executive 07.02.19

(x)  That the minimum level of the Unearmarked Revenue 
Reserves is maintained at £1.5 million as per Section 10 
of the presented agenda report; and

(xi)  That the level of reserves as set out within the presented 
agenda report and the assessment of their adequacy and 
the robustness of budget estimates are noted. This is a 
requirement of Part 2 of the Local Government Act 2003.

E.72/18 CAPITAL BUDGET PROPOSALS FOR 2019/20

Members were presented with a report that set out the Capital Bids to 
the 2019/20 Capital Programme totalling £15,291,000 and a suggested 
way that the Bids could be funded.  All items within the proposed 
Capital programme were based on budget estimates and would be 
subject to the normal project appraisal procedures.

The Leader introduced the report and he and the s151 Officer 
responded to questions.

It was then:

RESOLVED 

That Executive support:

1. The content of the Capital Programme Proposals for 
2019/20, which total £1,290,000 (Appendix A of the 
presented agenda report refers); 

2. The content of the Capital Programme Proposals for 
2019/20, which total £14,001,000 (Exempt Appendix B of 
the presented agenda report refers); and 

3. The proposed financing of the 2019/20 Capital 
Programme of £15,291,000 from the funding sources set 
out in Section 4 of the presented agenda report.

E.73/18 FUTURE GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS FOR FRONTLINE 
SERVICES (WASTE AND CLEANSING)

Members were presented with a report that sought approval to amend 
the Memorandum of Understanding to enable the mobilisation of the 
contract, since the Council approved the award of a partnership 
contract for the delivery of the services in scope, in December 2018. 

The report also set out the details of the setting up of a Partnership 
Board, as required under the terms of the contract.

The Lead Member for Commercial Services introduced the report.



Executive 07.02.19

It was then:

RESOLVED

(i) That the recommendation of the Frontline Services Project 
Board that the Memorandum of Understanding be 
amended to include the mobilisation of the contract be 
approved; and

(ii) That the setting up of a Partnership Board as outlined in 
principle and as required under the terms of the contract 
be noted.

E.74/18 BUSINESS CONTINUITY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY AND WORK 
PROGRAMME

Members were presented with a report that presented a Business 
Continuity Strategy and Work Programme for recommendation to 
Council for approval.  The report set out how the Council was under a 
legal duty through the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 to have a suitable 
and sufficient Business Continuity Strategy to ensure that at times of an 
emergency the Council could continue to support the emergency 
services. 

The Leader introduced the report and advised that in reviewing the 
situation following the ‘Beast from the East’ storm, and in view of a 
recent Internal Audit report, that Business Continuity arrangements 
were revised.  The Senior Specialist responded to questions.

In response to a question regarding Brexit, both the Leader and the 
Group Manager Customer First and Support Services updated 
Members on how matters relating to Brexit were cascaded to local 
authorities and information shared.

Finally, the Deputy Leader thanked the Senior Specialist for his 
experience and knowledge in respect of Business Continuity matters.

It was then 

RESOLVED

(i) That the Business Continuity Management Strategy, and 
proposed work programme had been considered; and

(ii) That Council be RECOMMENDED that the Management 
Strategy and work programme be adopted.



Executive 07.02.19

E.75/18          WRITE OFF REPORT

The Deputy Leader introduced a report that informed Members of the 
debt written off for revenue streams within the Revenue and Benefits 
service.  Debts up to the value of £5,000 were written off by the s151 
Officer under delegated authority.  There were no individual debts 
with a value of more than £5,000.   

It was then:

RESOLVED

That it be noted that, in accordance with Financial Regulations, 
the s151 Officer has authorised the write-off of individual South 
Hams District Council debts totalling £64,820.21 as detailed 
in Tables 1 and 2 of the presented agenda report.

E.76/18          PUBLIC TOILET PROJECT

Members were presented with a report that asked for consideration of 
the recommendations for each facility and approval to proceed.

The Lead Executive Member for Commercial Services introduced the 
report and responded to questions of clarity. It was confirmed that the 
final report on this matter would be presented to the Executive at the 
next meeting on 14 March 2019.

It was then:

RESOLVED

1. That work continues with Totnes Town Council and 
Kingsbridge Town Council to find suitable funding proposals to 
recover Pay on Entry projected income at the following 
locations:

- Totnes – Civic Hall, Coronation Road and Steamer Quay; 
and

- Kingsbridge – Fore Street 

(Unless suitable funding alternatives are offered locally before 
the 28 February 2019, then Pay on Entry (PoE) equipment 
should be installed at these facilities.)

2. That the proposed approach of Salcombe Town Council 
(working in partnership with the Salcombe Harbour Board) to 
take over the management and running of the Salcombe 
Estuary Toilets for a 2 year trial period be endorsed. This 
proposal requires a transfer of the service budget to facilitate 
the pilot being agreed in detail.



Executive 07.02.19

(NB. Full details of the proposal are outlined in amended 
Paragraph 2.4ii of the presented agenda report and Appendix 
B.)

3. That the £9,000 request for the repair to the roof at Mill Bay in 
recognition that this maintains a facility which would otherwise 
have been permanently closed be considered. (NB. This will 
need to be funded from the central building and maintenance 
budget which the Council has for all its assets.)

4. That the position be noted in respect of public toilet facilities 
at:
• Holbeton;
• Newton Ferrers (Newton & Noss Parish); and
• Staverton.

E.77/18          PAY AND DISPLAY REVIEW

Members were presented with a report that considered the 
recommendation to amend Pay and Display charges in accordance 
with the schedule at Appendix 1.

It was then:

RESOLVED 

That Council be RECOMMENDED to make the following 
amendments to the South Hams Off Street Parking Places 
Order:

1. Pay & Display charges be amended in accordance with 
Appendix 1 of the presented agenda report, following 
consultation with local communities.

(NOTE: THESE DECISIONS, WITH THE EXCEPTION OF E.69/18 (2), E.70/18 (2), 
E.71/18 (2), E.74/18 (2) and E.77/18 WHICH WERE RECOMMENDATIONS TO THE 
COUNCIL MEETING TO BE HELD ON 21 FEBRUARY 2019, WILL BECOME 
EFFECTIVE FROM 5.00PM ON MONDAY 18 FEBRUARY 2019 UNLESS CALLED 
IN, IN ACCORDANCE WITH SCRUTINY PROCEDURE RULE 18).

(Meeting commenced at 10.00 am and concluded at 11.30 am)

_____________
Chairman



PUBLIC QUESTIONS AT EXECUTIVE MEETINGS 
 

 
 
The Council at its meeting on 21 June 2001 agreed that 15 minutes should be set 

aside at the beginning of the Council's monthly Executive meetings to allow 

members of the public to ask questions. 

 

Any member of the public who wants to raise a question at a meeting should:- 

 

(a) submit the question in writing to the Democratic Services Manager by 5.00 pm 

on the Monday prior to the Executive meeting.  This will allow a detailed 

answer to the question to be given at the meeting.  If advance notice of the 

question cannot be given, the Chairman of the meeting has the discretion to 

allow questions on matters which are felt to be urgent; 

 

(b) ensure that normally questions are no longer than 50 words in length; 

 

(c) ensure that the question does not relate to a specific planning matter (this is 

specifically excluded from the public question time); 

 

(d) ensure that the question relates to something over which the Council has 

some control and is suitable to be considered, ie, that it is not derogatory to 

the Council or relates to matters which the Council could consider 

confidential. 

 

For any further advice on questions for Executive meetings, please contact Kathryn 

Trant (Member Services Manager). 

 

 





SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL: EXECUTIVE LEADER’S FORWARD PLAN
This is the Leader of Council’s provisional forward plan for the four months starting June 2019.  It provides an indicative date for matters to be 
considered by the Executive.   Where possible, the Executive will keep to the dates shown in the plan.  However, it may be necessary for some 
items to be rescheduled and other items added.

The forward plan is published to publicise consultation dates and enable dialogue between the Executive and all councillors, the public and 
other stakeholders. It will also assist the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Panel in planning their contribution to policy development and 
holding the Executive to account. 

Local authorities are required to publish updated forward plans on a monthly basis.  The Plan is published in hard copy and on the Council’s 
website (www.southhams.gov.uk)

Members of the public are welcome to attend all meetings of the Executive, which are normally held at Follaton House, Totnes, and 
normally start at 10.00 am.  If advance notice has been given, questions can be put to the Executive at the beginning of the meeting.

The Executive consists of six Councillors.  Each has responsibility for a particular area of the Council’s work. 
Cllr John Tucker – Leader of the Council 
Cllr Simon Wright – Deputy Leader 
Cllr Keith Wingate – lead Executive Member for Business Development
Cllr Rufus Gilbert – lead Executive Member for Commercial Services
Cllr Hilary Bastone – lead Executive Member for Customer First
Cllr Nicky Hopwood – lead Executive Member for Customer First and Support Services

Further information on the workings of the Executive, including latest information on agenda items, can be obtained by contacting the Member 
Services Section on 01803 861185 or by e-mail to member.services@southhams.gov.uk

All items listed in this Forward Plan will be discussed in public at the relevant meeting, unless otherwise indicated 

mailto:member.services@southhams.gov.uk
mailto:member.services@southhams.gov.uk
mailto:member.services@southhams.gov.uk


KEY DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN BY THE EXECUTIVE
Portfolio Area Report Title and Summary Lead Officer/

Member
Documents to be 

considered in making 
decision

Date of 
Decision

Consultees and means 
of Consultation

OTHER DECISIONS
Customer First Title: Coastal Concordat

Purpose of report: To consider the Concordat 
agreed between SHDC and Marine Management 
Organisation in respect of planning matters below 
the mean low tide

TJ/ Cllr 
Bastone

Report of the Head of Place 
Making Practice 

Coastal Concordat 

Date tbc

Leader Title: Draft Corporate Strategy Delivery Plans  
Purpose of report: To consider the draft delivery 
plans for each of the Corporate Strategy Themes 
(Homes, Communities, Enterprise, Environment, 
Wellbeing & Council)  

NT/ Leader Report of the 
Commissioning Manager 

Draft Strategy Delivery 
Plans

June 2019 

Customer First Title: Customer Satisfaction
Purpose of report: To provide monthly update on 
Customer Satisfaction Action Plan.

NT/Cllr 
Bastone

Report of the 
Commissioning Manager 

Monthly

Customer First Title:  Review of the Housing Asssistance Policy
Purpose of report:  To recommend to Council to 
any necessary changes following a review of the 
Housing Assistance Policy

DS/Cllr 
Hopwood

Report of the Senior 
Specialist Environmental 
Health

6 June 
2019

Leader - Assets Title:  Dartmouth Health Hub Update Report
Purpose of Report:  To report on progress and seek 
approval for next steps, including any finance 
requirements

CB/Cllr 
Tucker

Report of Head of Assets 6 June 
2019

Leader - Assets Title:  Granting of a Long Lease
Purpose of Report:  To consider approval of a long 
lease for investment purposes

CB/Cllr 
Tucker

Report of Head of Assets 6 June 
2019







Ivybridge Development Proposal Update

Report to: Executive

Date: 14 March 2019

Title: Ivybridge Development Proposal Update

Portfolio Area: Cllr John Tucker, Leader of the Council, Assets

Wards Affected: All
Relevant Scrutiny 
Committee: Overview & Scrutiny Panel

Date next steps 
can be taken:

n/a

Authors: Darren Arulvasagam / Chris Brook 
Group Manager Business Development / Head of Assets Practice
Darren.Arulvasagam@swdevon.gov.uk
Chris.Brook@swdevon.gov.uk

Recommendations:  That Executive: 

1. NOTE the findings of the Ivybridge ‘Vox Pops’ Consultation

2. SUPPORT the submission of an Expression of Interest to the Government’s 
Future High Street Fund in respect of Ivybridge

3. APPROVE the principle of a supermarket development within the Council 
owned Leonards Road and Glanvilles Mill car parks, subject to an acceptable 
detailed business case and agreement with third parties. These will need to 
be in place before a final decision on progressing a development.

1.0 Executive Summary 
1.1 Full Council approved a Commercial Property Strategy (CPS) in 

September 2018 and at Executive in December 2018, approved seven 
projects under delegated authority. Members deferred approving a 
project to build a supermarket in Ivybridge as they required more 
information.  

1.2 This report summarises the work that has been completed since that 
meeting, including an informal town centre ‘vox pops’ consultation; a car 
park usage analysis; work to develop a future high street fund bid, and; 
discussions and drawings to address concerns regarding the potential car 
park capacity loss and the physical location of the supermarket.

1.3 Executive is asked to note the findings of this work, support a bid to the 
Future High Street fund for Ivybridge and approve the principle of a 
Council supermarket development in the town centre car park.  

1.4 Subject to agreement by Executive, the supermarket development will 
require a detailed business case and agreements with third parties before 
it can be fully considered.  It is anticipated this will only be available in 
the new Council administration.

2 Background 
2.1 In September 2018, the Council adopted a new Commercial Property 

Strategy (CPS), which delegated decisions on in-district development to 
Executive.

2.2 The CPS has a number of objectives, which would be satisfied by 
progressing with this proposal, specifically:

mailto:Darren.Arulvasagam@swdevon.gov.uk


Ivybridge Development Proposal Update

2.2.1 To support regeneration and the economic activity of the District

2.2.2 To enhance economic benefit & business rates growth

2.2.3 To assist with the financial sustainability of the Council as an ancillary 
benefit.

2.2.4 To help the Council continue to deliver and/or improve frontline services 
in line with the Council’s adopted strategy & objectives

2.3 The CPS delegates authority to approve development projects to 
Executive, where these projects fit within the borrowing limit approved by 
the Council. 

2.4 Officers understand that two national supermarket operators are looking 
for sites in the vicinity of Ivybridge.  Officers believe the town centre car 
parks would be an ideal central location for a new store, driving footfall 
into the town centre, as opposed to a new out-of-town new retail 
development.  There are no other sites in the centre of Ivybridge which 
would be suitable for such development.  

2.5 A typical store would employ between ~30 – 35 people and generate 
approximately 1,000 visits a day into the centre of Ivybridge.  The 
supermarket’s typical business model of only stocking ~2000 – 3000 
product lines (instead of a more typical ~10,000-20,000) requires 
shoppers to visit other stores to complete their typical weekly shopping.  
It is for this reason that this style of store could assist with the 
sustainability of shops and high streets in close proximity.

2.6 In December 2018, Executive approved seven projects but deferred 
approving a project to build a Supermarket in Ivybridge.  Members had a 
lengthy debate when appraising the original proposal.  Local Ward 
Members raised concerns over the potential loss of car parking and these 
concerns had been echoed by the Town Council.  Other Members 
accepted these concerns, but felt that the proposal would bring footfall 
into the town, which would be of benefit to the economy of the town as a 
whole.  

2.7 Members supported the deferral, but in doing so noted that, if the 
proposal did not progress quickly, then there was a chance that the 
opportunity would be lost and the risk that an alternative location, away 
from the town centre, would be found.  They felt this would have an even 
more detrimental effect on the economy of Ivybridge.  Finally, there was 
discussion around revisiting the car parking strategy to ensure that it 
supported Ivybridge effectively.  

2.8 This report summarises the work that has been completed since that 
meeting, including an informal town centre ‘vox pops’ exercise; a car 
park usage analysis; work to develop a future high street fund bid, and; 
discussions and drawings to address concerns regarding the potential car 
park capacity loss and the physical location of the supermarket.

3 Work Completed Since the December Executive

3.1 Vox Pops 
Officers from Communications, Strategic Planning, Assets and Business 
Development spent a day in Ivybridge in January.  They interviewed 
shoppers, visitors, workers and business owners in and around the town 



Ivybridge Development Proposal Update

centre, car parks, medical centre, school and the leisure centre.  
Discussion centred around views about the town centre, car parking 
usage and provision, sustainability of the town centre and feelings about 
the proposal to bring a new supermarket to the town.  Appendix A is a 
summary of the findings.  Also shown in this appendix are a number of 
potential action points, which officers will investigate.  

3.2 Some interviews were videoed, but due to data protection rules and the 
consent given, these are not publically available.  Members can contact 
the author if they would like to view.

3.3 In summary, there was a mixed view on the attractiveness of a new 
supermarket.  There was concern that a new supermarket could affect 
the sustainability of existing supermarket / grocery providers in the town 
and therefore the additional employment created may actually displace 
existing employment.  Others thought a new store would be a real 
attractor for the town; creating much needed competition and explained 
it would stop them from leaving the town to find that type supermarket in 
other nearby towns.  

3.4 People were concerned there would be insufficient parking as a result of a 
new store.  It was clear there was some misunderstanding, with some 
people believing a multi-storey car park was proposed, whilst others 
thought the supermarket would just be dropped on to the car park with 
no replacement car parking provided.  It was a useful exercise to dispel 
these myths, understand the sentiment and also to understand current 
car park usage. 

3.5 Car Park Usage Analysis
Officers attempted to speak to all car park users between the hours of 
06.45 – 09.00 on Friday 11th January in order to understand their 
movements.  Analysis is shown in Appendix A.  It was clear that fears 
that people were using the car park to “park and ride” were unfounded.  
However, it is true to say that town centre workers were the main users, 
with the car park approximately 70-80% full by 9am.  This results in very 
little car park turnover during the day due to the prominence of long stay 
users, who are attracted by convenience and low cost.  The use of 
parking permits mean the cost to park is circa. 50p per day.

3.6 A number of people cited they would like to see either completely free 
parking or free parking for a set period of time.  They explained this is 
offered in nearby Plympton and the adjacent Watermark car park.  
Interestingly, many supermarket providers like to ensure that their users 
have access to a free car park for the first 90 minutes of their stay.  Any 
such tariff change would be a budget pressure for the Council. 

3.7 Other interviewees felt the current tariffs needed review – perhaps free 
for a period and then a flat fee per hour afterwards.  Their thinking being 
this would stimulate turnover, attract those who wanted to use the 
leisure centre or the town and therefore have a positive outcome for local 
businesses.  This would need to be balanced with the provision of long 
stay parking elsewhere within close proximity of the town centre.

3.8 Future High Street Fund (FHSF)
The Government announced the £675m FHSF in December 2018 and is 
inviting expressions of interest by 22 March 2019. 



Ivybridge Development Proposal Update

3.9 The Government has recognised that today, as consumer patterns 
change and spending increasingly moves online, expectations of high 
streets are changing too. A renewed emphasis on 'experience' brings 
convenience, valuable services and a powerful sense of the community to 
the fore – that intrinsic desire for something that cannot be replicated 
online. Where this has been achieved successfully, it can transform a 
community.

3.10 The FHSF is an essential part of the Government’s plan for the High 
Street, providing co-funding towards capital projects that bring 
transformative change.  Each successful project could be awarded up to 
£25m to support the regeneration of town centres through innovative 
proposals around transport, housing delivery and other public services.

3.11 It has been agreed that Ivybridge would be the ideal location within the 
South Hams to form a project team to build a bid.  The Council’s Head of 
Place Making has met with representatives from Ivybridge Town Council, 
the Neighbourhood plan team, the Chamber of Commerce, local 
businesses & developer stakeholders along with the local MP to agree the 
need and scope for a bid.  They are on course to submit an expression of 
interest, drawing on earlier work by the Prince’s Foundation and the 
Council’s Joint Local Plan.

3.12 The revised proposals for a new town centre supermarket (as discussed 
in 3.17 below) have been shared with this group.  It has been agreed 
that these proposals should be included within the expression of interest 
as supporting documentation, showing the scale of the town centre 
improvement that is possible.

3.13 Discussions and Drawings for potential way forward
The Council’s Joint Local Plan included evidence (contained within the 
Retail and Leisure Study 2017, ‘Key Findings’) of the need for a new 
‘discount’ supermarket in the town:
“Ivybridge performs well against the majority of health check indicators and 
there is limited need for qualitative improvements. However, consumer choice in 
the convenience sector could be further improved through the provision of a 
discount food store within the town. Currently residents must travel to Plympton 
for their nearest discount food store”

3.14 A number of concerns were raised about the former proposal, namely:

 The presence and suitability of a decked car park
 the location of the store being ‘disconnected’ from the existing town 

centre
 The lack of access / visual connection to the River Erme
 The potential impact on the newly renovated leisure centre
 The lack of additional parking
 The need for an element of free parking and a review of tariffs
 Alternatives for long stay parking

3.15 With this in mind and after discussion with local stakeholders and 
landowners, the drawings have been revised to address these concerns.  
It is important to note that the drawings and treatments (see Appendix 
B) are for indicative illustrative purposes only.  



Ivybridge Development Proposal Update

No agreements with third parties have yet been concluded and would 
need to be in place before any proposal could be progressed.

3.16 Appendix B, produced by our retained Property Development advisors, 
CCD Properties in conjunction with their architects, Corstophine & Wright, 
sets out the background to the Ivybridge supermarket proposal, the site 
context, observations and challenges, the leisure centre development and 
how the car park treatment has evolved from the original proposal to the 
two options now presented.

3.17 Two proposals are shown in Appendix B (pages 11 – 15).  Both show a 
new 18,000 sqft supermarket, a new 5000 sqft hospitality unit and a 
relocated police station, skate park, play park and scout hut.  By 
removing the access road and making alterations to the landscaping, 
these changes enable a 39% increase in car parking capacity from 209 
spaces to 290 in Option 1 OR a 30% increase in car parking capacity to 
272 spaces in Option 2.  

3.18 The 18 car parking space difference between the options is due to option 
2 including provision for a 1,800 sqft ‘drive-thru’ hospitality unit.  
Officers, with the help of commercial advisors are seeking confirmation 
from occupiers as to their interest in such a scheme and any progress will 
require firm commitments from those involved.

3.19 The designs improve the visibility of the leisure centre from the improved 
public realm around the river and initial discussion with Fusion (the 
leisure centre operator) confirmed that they agree to the principle of the 
development and would like to engage in the formal design process, if 
the proposal proceeds.

3.20 The principal objective of the plan is to bring the two commercial sides of 
the River Erme together by re-emphasising the importance of the 
bridge/crossing points. The result should be a far better customer flow 
linking the core shopping areas of Glanvilles Mill, Fore Street, the Town 
Council Square and Leonards Road Car Park. 

3.21 With this in mind, the proposed car park developments could improve 
linkages to town by: carefully and selectively thinning tree coverage to 
reveal the river; improving the connection between the Glanvilles Mill 
side of the river to the car park side of the river (which will also form part 
of the FHSF bid); enhancing the leisure centre entrance by adding 
adjacent disabled car parking spaces and the potential for a bus / coach 
collection & drop-off point, and; improving signage and sight-lines across 
the car park to the main town centre and leisure centre. Tree lines along 
Marjorie Kelly Way would also be carefully ‘thinned’ to connect / 
showcase the town centre from that road – at present, the leisure centre 
and other facilities are almost hidden from view. 

3.22 Any development will require a detailed business case and agreements 
with third parties before it can be fully considered.  At this point the 
commercial viability of such a development has not been confirmed.  It is 
anticipated these confirmations will only be available in the new Council 
administration.

3.23 Officers have discussed the possibility of providing additional long stay 
parking within walking distance of the town centre with local land 
holders.  In addition, investigation around the possibility of providing a 



Ivybridge Development Proposal Update

bus link to the Ivybridge Park & Ride car park at Ivybridge Railway 
Station is underway.  The detail and commercial impact of these options, 
along with the potential to offer a period of free car parking within the 
main Council-owned car park has yet to be quantified.

3.24 Any development would require a change in car parking strategy at the 
site, as despite the increase in capacity, the new store, improved leisure 
centre and the town centre will require sufficient parking for their needs, 
which the current regime of low cost all day parking fails to deliver.

3.25 Discussion has been held with ward Members and representatives from 
Ivybridge Town Council.  Support for the development has grown from 
the original proposal as it has been noted that the revised proposal has 
sought to address the main concerns.  It has been agreed that this 
proposal can be included as part of the FHSF bid and subject to further 
detail around the commercials and parking options, a proposal could be 
met favourably.

4 Options available and consideration of risk 

4.1 Executive is asked to note the findings of this work, support a bid to the 
Future High Street Fund for Ivybridge and approve the principle of a 
Council development in the town.  

4.2 Subject to agreement by Executive, the supermarket development will 
require a detailed business case and agreements with third parties before 
it can be fully considered.  It is anticipated this will only be available in 
the new Council administration.

4.3 Executive could opt to accept or reject all of the recommendations – or 
request further information.  When considering the benefits of these 
projects, the Executive must recognise that all of these projects meet the 
objectives of the CPS.

4.4 Not proceeding with the projects would result in the status quo, that is to 
say, the benefits of job creation, business rates and footfall would not be 
felt.  Secondary to this, any financial return that would accrue would not 
be realised.  In addition, if the scheme does not proceed there is a risk 
that the supermarket operators may seek to source/develop their own 
scheme in an out-of-town location which would have a further 
detrimental impact on town centre activity in the longer term.

4.5 Proceeding with the project carries risk.  All construction carries risk 
which the Council would have to manage through good design, project 
management and contractor oversight.  It cannot however be eliminated 
and a financial contingency would be put in place to mitigate that risk.

4.6 Tenants or freehold occupiers have been identified to take occupation 
upon completion of the scheme.  This is important given that the projects 
are funded through borrowing.  Significant cost will not be incurred and 
planning permission will not be submitted until agreement for leases / 
contracts are completed with the proposed tenants and third party 
stakeholders.

4.7 The project relies on the Council borrowing from the PWLB.  A successful 
award from the FHSF is not required to proceed with this development.



Ivybridge Development Proposal Update

5 Proposed Way Forward 

5.1 Executive is asked to note the findings of this work, support a bid to the 
Future High Street fund for Ivybridge and approve the principle of a 
Council supermarket development in the town centre car park.  

5.2 Subject to agreement by Executive, the supermarket development will 
require a detailed business case and agreements with third parties before 
it can be fully considered.  It is anticipated this will only be available in 
the new Council administration.

5.3 At this point, commercial implications have not been finalised.  Viability is 
not yet confirmed. If this report’s recommendations are approved, then 
the next step would be to undertake a detailed financial analysis, enter 
into pre-let discussions with target occupiers, define a development 
program and agree Heads of Terms with 3rd party stakeholders before 
seeking approval from Executive, in line with the adopted Commercial 
Property Strategy.

6 Implications
Implicatio

ns
Relevant to 
proposals  

Y/N

Details and proposed measures to address 

Legal/
Governan

ce

Y There are no direct legal implications as a result of this report and 
its recommendations.

Any future development will be subject to the normal Council 
planning process and any decision by Executive does not infer 
that planning permission for the proposed developments would 
be granted.

Financial Y There are no direct financial implications as a result of this report 
and its recommendations.

If successful, the proposed asset development has the potential 
to make a significant contribution to the current predicted 
cumulative budget gap for the Council within the current 
Medium Term Financial Strategy period to 2023/24.  

A report on Council’s Treasury Management Strategy will be 
presented to Council in March 2019. Borrowing decisions will be 
taken prudently in line with the Council’s treasury management 
strategy and by officers within that function.  The Council must 
confirm that the borrowing required is available and is 
proportional to the Council’s financial situation.

Risk Y Members will need to be satisfied that any proposed 
development not only delivers best value but also meets the 
needs of the corporate strategy and adopted asset management 
strategy.  This will include consideration of how:

 The relevant capital and revenue costs and income 
resulting from the investment over the whole life of the 
asset. 



Ivybridge Development Proposal Update

 The extent to which the investment is expected to deliver 
a secure ongoing income stream. 

 The level of expected return on the investment. 
 The payback period of the capital investment.

The Council already owns and operates a property estate valued 
at c.£70m.  It therefore has experience of managing commercial 
property and can act as an intelligent client to fulfil the proposed 
developments and preparation of the business cases. 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications
Equality 

and 
Diversity

N Not Applicable

Safeguardi
ng N Not Applicable

Communit
y Safety, 

Crime and 
Disorder

N Not Applicable 

Health, 
Safety and 
Wellbeing

N Not Applicable

Other 
implicatio

ns
N Not Applicable 

Supporting Information
Appendices:
Appendix A - Vox Pop Summary - Jan 2019
Appendix B - Ivybridge Feasibility Study including Indicative car park layouts

Background Papers:
 Commercial Development Opportunities, presented to Executive December 2018
 Commercial Property Strategy, presented to Council September 2018
 Council Owned Asset Investment and Development, presented to Council July 2018
 Ivybridge Retail & Leisure Study, 2017 by Peter Brett Assoc. View online at: 

https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/RetailAndLeisureStudy_0.pdf 
Approval and clearance of report

Process checklist Completed
Portfolio Holder briefed Yes
SLT Rep briefed Yes
Relevant  Exec Director sign off Yes
Data protection issues considered Yes
If exempt information, public (part 1) report also 
drafted

n/a

https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/RetailAndLeisureStudy_0.pdf


Ivybridge Development Proposal Update





Ivybridge Vox Pops – January 2019

Summary of Key Points & Possible Actions Arising:

1. How can parking around town / enforcement be improved?
2. Can we use the train station park and ride for long stay and get community transport to 

provide service to take workers at peak times?
3. Play park and bridge need some attention
4. Could we consider moving the market location into Glanvilles Mill or A N other area & 

invigorate it to make it more of an attraction
5. Can the bottle banks be relocated to avoid using up car parking space?
6. Could we make additional parking, long stay, South of the A38?  
7. Should we reduce number of long stay bays in centre of town / Increase short stay
8. Consider limiting number of permits issued?
9. Is it possible to find an alternative location to park ring and ride / community transport 

vehicles?
10. Should we alter tariffs to deter / shift long stay workers to help create turnover (in 

conjunction with 2 & 6 above)?
11. Should we alter short stay tariff to £1 an hour?
12. Should we consider offering a free for 90 or 120 mins option for some or all of the spaces?
13. Would Harford Road Car Park as a long stay / permit only car park work?
14. Should SHDC try to acquire the car park at Keaton Road?

Supportive Comments about town or proposed development 
 It’s a nice town, better than most
 Change has been slow to develop in our suburban town despite it being coined one of the fastest 

growing towns
 Only recently have new developments been approved to meet with local and national housing 

crisis. Despite support for existing business ventures in the town, more often than not their fate 
has been inevitable closure. 

 Despite community efforts to attract a greater footfall to the town, small business failure will be 
probably continue to be the theme. 

 With the regeneration of the towns leisure facilities and efforts which have been taken to raise 
the profile of the town as the ‘Gateway to the Moor’s with the Two Moors Way signage, the 
proposal of an additional shopping facility would ultimately bring in a greater footfall, raising the 
profile of our sleeping suburban town! 

 I am aware that a parking issue may dictate the council’s decision but it’s time to think 
pragmatically and dynamically! 

 Surely it makes sense to build upwards if we cannot build outwards! 
 Appropriately priced parking combined with an ALDI would draw in more people, but can’t harm 

access to Leisure Centre – people must be able to access the leisure centre throughout the day.
 Will give people a reason to stay here – even with a parking fee, it will be cheaper than driving to 

an equivalent store in another town
 If people don’t use the town’s facilities, they will lose them!
 The Glanvilles Mill Landlords are very understanding – they offer flexible rents.  More footfall will 

see an increase in use of Glanvilles
 We do need alternatives to what is here
 People will see the increased footfall and come into the town – some new businesses might 

spring up as a result and take the plunge into setting up shop



 The town needs something that will attract people in
 The new leisure centre is great – it will bring in new visitors and is good news
 There should be a bigger, better market – we used to have foreign markets and that was a good 

draw into the town
 Watermark popular, but could benefit from more highbrow acts
 Stowford proposals sound good
 More choice for shopping would be good
 I want to stop people leaving town for their shopping
 I love the town and love living here
 It’s good to see the investment in the town, like the leisure centre
 People in Ivybridge find that Coop breaks you – it’s too expensive
 We need a ‘cheap’ supermarket
 Co-op is expensive needs competition
 Give residents a choice and Tesco a run for their money! They have monopolised our decisions 

for too long!
 Will be good for older people, will give them more choice
 I currently leave town for my shopping – if it’s the store I’ve heard it might be, I’d be really happy
 Other towns which have low cost supermarkets seem to be bustling
 I can see that it (a new supermarket) would attract people
 We should have an Iceland
 We should have a Wetherspoons
 There should be a low cost card shop and a material shop
 Yes let Aldi fight it out with Tesco!
 I just go to Aldi or Lidl in Plympton.  They have free parking there too.

Negative Comments about town or proposed development 
 The bridge into Glanvilles Mill needs to be fixed
 Ivybridge is just an overspill town
 Only one medical centre on east side of Ivybridge
 I don’t use the town centre – there’s nothing here!
 Why did you allow a Tesco Express?
 I don’t think a new supermarket is needed right now
 It will hit Coop hard
 I’m happy with Coop, so don’t introduce competition
 Some of the towns and nearby cycle lanes are not maintained very well
 There’s not enough people coming into the town
 When the post office closed, footfall really dropped off, things were dire
 Banks closing are a big issue!
 The town’s identify is dying
 You need to reverse the decision on car parks, current tariffs are plain wrong!
 Not a lot of people shop in Ivybridge
 “I only work here, I don’t shop here, nothing attracts me in”
 “I never shop in the town”
 Shopping is struggling everywhere
 I don’t use the town, I live in Plymouth (or Exeter)
 People don’t like paying to park
 The side roads and housing estates fill up with cars if the town centre car parks are full
 You need to change the tariffs - £2 a day doesn’t help with turnover of cars
 You need a better mix of long stay / short stay parking – too many long stay at present



 I think people are using the car park for park and ride – it’s too cheap
 Most of the people parking in the shoppers car park are working – that doesn’t help shoppers
 Parking is limited – I often see people circulating looking for spaces
 I don’t think there’s enough checking (enforcement) of parking – People park in the wrong places, 

on yellow lines etc. and get away with it.  It clogs up the roads
 I think there should be more free parking
 There’s not enough short stay parking to create a turnover of cars and shoppers
 There’s not much of a market left
 £2 a day is too cheap to park, doesn’t create enough turnover – a £1 an hour would really help
 A decked car park is not a good idea – either logistically or aesthetically
 The children’s play park near Glanvilles mill needs maintenance / upgrade

Parking Survey – Completed 11/1/2019 between 06:45 – 09:00:

No of car's surveyed Parking for Work Parking for other reason Permit parking P&D
39 35 4 21 18
42 39 3
81 74 7

91% 9%
Nobody was using car park for park and ride.  All left on foot for work within town.  Majority were 
permit holders.

Interview notes - 10th January 2019

1. Two female ICC pupils who live in Plymouth (outside Watermark, waiting for lift back to 
school):

 Lunch / after school will walk into Ivybridge or get a lift in car from friends who find it 
difficult to find a space

 Use Tesco or Co-Op for food
 Improved indoor and outdoor social venues / areas would encourage them to use the town 

centre more
 Would like to see a discount supermarket
 there is little that attracts them to Ivybridge outside school time – favouring Plymouth, 

where they live, particularly VUE cinema
 Liked the sound of Stowford Mill project
 This and improved environment / ambience would increase likelihood of them spending 

time in Town Centre

2. A man and woman in 30s who live on edge of Ivybridge sitting on bench near Co-Op Bridge (car 
park side) waiting for taxi
 Use Tesco or Co-Op for food, but think another supermarket (they like ALDI and LIDL) would 

increase variety and provide competition – they expressed dissatisfaction with Co-Op prices
 No concern about parking – they use taxis
 Wish to see more independent shops
 Use Watermark



3. Retired lady who lives in outlying village and has recently moved back to the area… heading to 
leisure centre 
 Town lacks cohesion
 Town doesn’t make the most of the river
 Retail offer limited – more independent and quality shops / services / products would 

encourage her to use the town more
 Likes:

o Leisure centre
o Lawsons
o Banks
o Butcher
o Electrician
o Tennis centre
o Watermark

 Parking costs important … suggests link to memberships of various town centre uses
 Uses Morrison at Plymstock and Co-Op
 Would like to see one of the big supermarkets in Town Centre

4. Partly blind lady in 60s sitting on bench near Co-Op Bridge (car park side) who lives in St 
Maurice (spelling?)
 Likes mix of shops and ambience
 easy to navigate
 comfortable size town
 likes

o Rochelle’s
o banks
o post office
o butcher

 like to walk dog along river / through woods
 trusts and supports local shops and distrusts / not impressed by operation of the likes of 

amazon ( I assume the usual reasons for which they get a bad press)
 would like to see a Sainsbury or Tesco

5. mother to be (20s?) heading to beauty salon – recently moved to Lee Mill from South Yorkshire 
on recommendation from family friend that Ivybridge is a great location (Moor, A38, coast)
 important PO re-opens
 parking regime prohibitive for her driving in … free to park at Plympton
 likes:

o leisure centre
o Rochelle’s (major reason for visiting)

 would like to see a LIDL or ALDI … more likely to drive in
 would like to see more upmarket shops … fashion and beauty

6. lady in her 70s on a mobility scooter heading to the co-op bridge … has always lived in Ivybridge
 Ivybridge generally OK



 Uses mobility scooter to get in from home in north of Ivybridge … crossing Brook Road (? … 
by bridge?) is dangerous … otherwise a good town to navigate

 ALDI bad idea as would lose parking … her husband considers parking to be a problem
 ALDI bad idea as this would harm TESCO and Co-Op viability, both of which she uses (also 

uses Morrisons in Totnes when over there)
 ICELAND occupying existing Fore Street units would be good
 Parking should be 2 hours free like Plympton
 Address on street parking and calm traffic through Fore Street (but not reverse direction)
 Having one medical centre at Rutt Lane a bad idea

7. Female part time worker in 60s
 Fix bridge
 Re-open Post Office … footfall has dropped markedly since closure
 Free parking like Plympton
 Likes

o Butcher
o Co-Op
o Watermark

 Medical centre at Rutt Lane
 ALDI would be bad as loses parking
 Sort out Keaton Road – wasted parking resource
 Encourage independent shops with lower rents
 Failing to trade on qualities … notably gateway to moor

8. Female part time worker in 60s
 Safe
 Friendly
 Accessible position

9. 30 something mother at school pick up – Woodlands Co-Op – lives in that area
 Likes

o Walks
o Leisure centre
o Independents
o Jazz interiors
o Trehill
o Parking fine
o Cobblers
o Butchers

 Works in Plymouth … tends to shop there
 Town needs toy shop / shoes for kids
 Fewer charity shops and hairdressers
 Likes prospect of Stowford Mill, but why add more retail when existing is not successful

6-7pm Fusion Leisure Centre Ivybridge, 10th January 2019



We spoke to 7 members of the public & 5 members of staff, plus three others who were very 
interested and talked for a while and gave their email addresses

Parking

 A lot of the people I spoke to said that parking was an issue at the Leisure Centre.  This is 
worse at the moment because staff used to use some space around the back that the 
contractors are not using to do the renovations.

 Several people were concerned that the leisure centre actually needs more spaces to help it 
grow and become a destination now that it will have a fab new pool and that there are not 
enough spaces already.

 A few members of staff said to me that Tuesdays during the day were particularly bad for 
parking and recently some of them could not find a space at all.

 In recent days a couple of customers have been late for classes because they could not find a 
space

 Two other people said that they had never had a problem parking – but that if possible they 
try and park in the free carpark, but there is not often space in there

 One person said that Plympton is free to park, so why can’t Ivybridge be?
 Another person said free parking would encourage more people to come to Ivybridge

Aldi

 Several people I spoke to said yes Aldi or Lidl would be great for Ivybridge, but that they 
worried about the parking in the proposed location.

 One person suggested it should go in the park and ride carpark for the train station as that is 
always empty.

 One person said that there is land for sale next to the vets in Filham, perhaps we could buy 
that and put it there?

 A couple of people said that Ivybridge needed something but not sure if that was a 
supermarket

Ivybridge as a town

 Several people said that nothing survives in Ivybridge, all there is are estate agents, charity 
shops and anything else does not survive.

 Some of the staff were sceptical about Stowford Mill, not sure it would happen and if it did 
whether the people of Ivybridge would use it, they think that it is trying to be too posh for 
Ivybridge

 One person said we need more quirky stuff
 One person said Ivybridge shops were rubbish, that we need a decent bar, decent shops, more 

variety, a Waitrose.
 Someone else said that Ivybridge is missing a buzz, it needed bigger shops, more shops, a bank 
 A couple of people said that they had heard that shops don’t last in Glanville’s Mill because of 

the high rents
 Someone else said that Glanville’s Mill was run down and the bridge area was run down and 

that there was nothing attractive about the town centre – which was a real shame because it 
used to be a nice little town



 Several people commented that there were too many homes and not enough infrastructure
 Several people complained about the road into the town, the congestion 

Mr E (and his partner, both live local)  

He said that there was very little to offer in the way of shops and that Ivybridge struggles to draw 
people in.  Every week there is something else that is closed

The infrastructure in Ivybridge does not cope, the doctors and the schools there is not enough for 
the new homes – we cannot keep building

He said he tries to support the local shops as much as he can on a daily basis but there is not much in 
Glanville’s Mill, he thinks they are just out to make money and not being local don’t really care about 
the local people, he thinks it is looking shabby.

David thinks that free parking would attract more people to the area for a couple of hours.

They did not know much about Stowford Mill

K (lives locally and works in a store locally and is on the Chamber of Commerce)

She thinks that Aldi would be a little too close to the other supermarkets and that more parking is 
what is needed not less.

She thinks that Stowford Mill looks really good

She thinks Aldi or Lidl would be good to bring people to the town, but not at the expense of the 
carpark.

A decked carpark would be good as long as it was not brutal in that location, something sympathetic

AH (lives locally has young children)

Agrees with the idea of a Lidl or and Aldi, would like to stick it to Tesco and their poor quality and 
high prices.  He thinks that the Town Centre needs a lift, he tries to shop local and uses Lawson’s 
rather than a DIY store, but he thinks that CO-OP would suffer.





IVYBRIDGE  
FEASIBILITY
STUDY
F E B R UA R Y 2 0 1 9 - I S S U E 5



1.0 Site Analysis

Location Within the Town Centre  

Aerial View

Photographs  

Existing OS

2.0 Observations and Challenges

3.0 Thoughts

4.0 Scheme Development

5.0 Proposals

Plans

Sketch Visuals

CONTENTS

IVYBRIDGE | FEASIBILITY STUDY | FEBRUARY 2019



1.0 Site Analysis | Location Within The Town

Ivybridge Station

Town Centre

Ivybridge
Co

mmunity College

River Erme

River Erme

Victoria Park

Ivybridge  
Rugby  

Football
Club

Lee Mill Industrial
Estate

Wyevale Garden Centre

GODWELL

WOODLANDS

A38

B3213

B3213

A38

SIT
E

IVYBRIDGE | FEASIBILITY STUDY | FEBRUARY 2019



1.0 Site Analysis | Aerial View

Existing Ivybridge Leisure
Centre

Existing Scout
HQ

Existing  
Playgroun
d

Existing Police
Station

Existing  
Youth
Club

WC’s

Existing Car
Park

Erme Court

Town Hall

IVYBRIDGE | FEASIBILITY STUDY | FEBRUARY 2019



1.0 Site Analysis | Photographs

View from the footpath on Woolcombe Lane looking 
towards the site

View looking south across the existing car park View looking towards the existing leisure centre Path leading north from the site

Key Plan showing photograph locations

5 6

1

View from the access road towards the youth club and WC’s

3

View from Leonards Road looking towards the existing car
park

7

2

View from the footpath on Woolcombe Lane looking 
towards  the site

4

View across the existing car park with the WC’s and
Youth  Centre on the right

8

2

5

3

1

7

6

8

4

IVYBRIDGE | FEASIBILITY STUDY | FEBRUARY 2019



1.0 Site
Analysis
Existing OS

IVYBRIDGE | FEASIBILITY STUDY | FEBRUARY 2019



2.0 Observations & Challenges

Lack of alternative long stay town  
centre parking provision (nearest  

being train station park & ride facility)

Existing parking tariff encourages all day parking (mainly 
used by local workers) and therefore low car turnover

Leading to limited parking capacity for leisure  
centre / town centre visitors as a result

Perception that low all-day tariff 
means that some peopleuse carpark
as a leisure 'park & ride' facility (work 

‘park & ride’ fears dispelled)

SITE 
TOPOGRAPHY

TREES ON

THE SITE

IVYBRIDGE | FEASIBILITY STUDY | FEBRUARY 2019

‘LIFESTYLE’
OWNERSHIP
BUSINESSES



3.0 Thoughts

NO LOSS OF AMENITIES 
(JUST RELOCATION & IMPROVEMENT) Improve car park access / egress

Under-utilised river frontage could be brought into use and “lift” the town

EV 
CHARGING
POINTS

Greater capacity in the car park for shorter trips through re-structure of tariffs

“Nudge” to more 
sustainable 

transport options 
for workers 
(modal shift)

BUS LINK WITH P&R CAR PARK

Create Additional
Parking Space Within 
Walking Distance Of 

Town

Part of “Future High Street Fund” proposal

Prepare town Centre for increased business from New Stowford 
Mill and housing developments 

Augment Retail Offer
& Defend Against Out
of Town Developments

Addit iona l “pul l” and tr ips generated
through leisure centre / shops / pub

Additional shopping and
leisure opportunities for  

Ivybridge residents

IVYBRIDGE | FEASIBILITY STUDY | FEBRUARY 2019

‘Gateway to 
the Moor’ 

Connection?



4.0 Improvement Works to Existing Leisure Centre

SUB-STATION

BIN STORAGE

Main Entrance

Dense  
Vegetation

Start of footbridge

Dense  
Vegetation

Dense  
Vegetation

Dense  
Vegetation

Dense  
Vegetation

Dense  
Vegetation

Dense  
Vegetation

Access  
Road

Access  
Road

Access  
Road

Access  
Road

Access  
Road

New retractable  
glass roof overpool

Existing outdoor pool  
shown outlined in  

red.

Sun terrace to  
receiv e new slabbed  

hard landscaping.

Play Park

Car  
Park

Brick wall to the  
boundary of terrace  

retained.

Path

Path

Dense  
Vegetation

Dense  
Vegetation

Dense  
Vegetation

Dense  
Vegetation

Dense  
Vegetation

Dense  
Vegetation

Dense  
Vegetation

PROPOSED SITE PLAN
SCALE BAR 1:200 @ A1

0m 1m 2m 3m 4m 5m 6m 7m 8m 9m 10m

NORTH

Retractable glazed  
roof to specialist  
design

PPCaluminium  
capping

Render finish

Stone finish to  
match existing

Render finish

PPCaluminium  
glazingsystem

PROPOSED WESTELEVATION

PROPOSED EXTENSION

IVYBRIDGE | FEASIBILITY STUDY | FEBRUARY 2019



5.0 Scheme Development

Town Hall

Pol Sta

Playground

POSSIBLE REDEVELOPMENT  
OF YOUTH CENTRE TO  

ACCOMMODATE RELOCATION  
OF SKATE PARK

65

60

UP

The copy right of  this drawing is v ested with Corstorphine + Wright Ltd and  
must not be copied or reproduced without the consent of the company .

Figured dimensions only  to be taken f rom this drawing. DO NOT SCALE.  
All contractors must v isit the site and be responsible f or checking all setting  
out dimensions and notif y ing the architect of any discrepancies prior to any   
manuf acture or construction work.

NOTES:

Rev is ion

00

Dr awn Chec k ed P aper  S iz e S c ale

CHK

Warwick  
London  

Birmingham  
Manchester  

Leeds  
Canterbury  

Glasgow  
Dublin

Brook Hall Brook Street Warwick CV34 4BL Tel. 

01926 658444 www.corstorphine-wright.com

RE V  DA T E NO T E S

Client

CCD PropertiesLtd

Project

South HamsPortfolio

Drawing Title

Ivybridge - StLeonard's  
Proposed Site Plan

JC IW
Dat e

APR 2018

P r o jec t No.

18052

A3  1:500

Dr awing No.

0021

CAR PARKSCHEDULE

EXISTING
Lower Car Park = 47  
Upper Car Park = 168  
Total CarParking = 215

PROPOSED
Lower Car Park = 65  
Upper Car Park = 60  
Parking Deck = 71  Total
CarParking = 196

Net loss of 19spaces

Town Hall

Pol Sta

Playground

Peacocks  
Store Store  

Entrance

Vinyl shop  
front

181

The copy right of  this drawing is v ested with Corstorphine + Wright Ltd and  
must not be copied or reproduced without the consent of the company .

Figured dimensions only  to be taken f rom this drawing. DO NOT SCALE.  
All contractors must v isit the site and be responsible f or checking all setting  
out dimensions and notif y ing the architect of any discrepancies prior to any   
manuf acture or construction work.

NOTES:

Rev is ion

00

Dr awn Chec k ed P aper  S iz e S c ale

RE V  DA T E NO T E S CHK

Warwick  
London  

Birmingham  
Manchester  

Leeds  
Canterbury  

Glasgow  
Dublin

Brook Hall Brook Street Warwick CV34 4BL Tel. 

01926 658444 www.corstorphine-wright.com

Client

CCD PropertiesLtd

Project

South HamsPortfolio

Drawing Title

Ivybridge - StLeonard's  
Proposed Site Plan

JC IW
Dat e

APR 2018

P r o jec t No.

18052

A3  1:500

Dr awing No.

0022

CAR PARKSCHEDULE

EXISTING
Lower Car Park = 47  
Upper Car Park = 168  
Total CarParking = 215

PROPOSED
Parking Spaces = 171  
DisabledParkingSpaces = 10  
Total Car Parking = 181

Town Hall

Pol Sta

Playground

POSSIBLE REDEVELOPMENT  
OF YOUTH CENTRE TO  

ACCOMMODATE RELOCATION  
OF SKATE PARK

60

UP

65
PROPOSED PARKING  
DECK TO PROVIDE 71
ADDITIONALSPACES

The copy right of  this drawing is v ested with Corstorphine + Wright Ltd and  
must not be copied or reproduced without the consent of the company .

Figured dimensions only  to be taken f rom this drawing. DO NOT SCALE.  
All contractors must v isit the site and be responsible f or checking all setting  
out dimensions and notif y ing the architect of any discrepancies prior to any   
manuf acture or construction work.

NOTES:

Dr awn Chec k ed P aper  S iz e S c ale

Project

CHK

Warwick  
London  

Birmingham  
Manchester  

Leeds  
Canterbury  

Glasgow  
Dublin

Brook Hall Brook Street Warwick CV34 4BL Tel. 

01926 658444 www.corstorphine-wright.com

RE V  DA T E NO T E S

Client

CCD PropertiesLtd

South HamsPortfolio

Drawing Title

Ivybridge - StLeonard's  
Proposed Site Plan

Dat e

APR 2018

Rev is ion

00

JC IW

P r o jec t No.

18052

A3  1:500

Dr awing No.

0022

CAR PARKSCHEDULE

EXISTING
Lower Car Park = 47  
Upper Car Park = 168  
Total CarParking = 215

PROPOSED
Lower Car Park = 65  
Upper Car Park = 60  
Parking Deck = 71  Total
CarParking = 196

Net loss of 19spaces

• Food store location and prominence
• Revised parking layout to offset the site area 

taken up by the food store
• Enhancement of Riverside Walk and improved 

linkages through to the town centre
• Utilising the level change across the site
• Introduction of electric car charging points
• Exploration of further commercial opportunities
• Exploration of refurbishment and or 

redevelopment of youth centre/public WCs
building

IVYBRIDGE | FEASIBILITY STUDY | FEBRUARY 2019



6.0 Proposals
Plan: Option 1

Electric Charging Points

Proposed New 25m Indoor  
Swimming Pool with  

Retractable Glass Roof

• Improved & more
prominent access to 
Leisure Centre
entrance

• Increase of 81 car 
parking spaces

• Provision of 18,000 
sq.ft store

• 5,000 sq.ft hospitality
unit

• Relocated skate park

• Relocated police
station

• Relocated scout hut

• Relocated &
improved  
playpark

• Improved river public
realm

• Retained toilets, 
youth centre &
hairdresser
building

New Town Centre signage  
and enhanced bridge link

Enhanced bridge link

Feeder route to Western  
end of High Street

Feeder route to Eastern  
end of High Street

New Food Storeand  
Car Park acting as an  
anchor and feeder to  

the town centre

IVYBRIDGE | FEASIBILITY STUDY | FEBRUARY 2019



6.0 Proposals
Plan: Option 2

Electric Charging
Points

Proposed New 25m Indoor 
Swimming Pool with  

Retractable Glass Roof

• Improved & more
prominent access  to 
Leisure Centre
entrance

• Increase of 63 car 
parking spaces

• Provision of 18,000 
sq.ft store

• 5,000 sq.ft hospitality
unit

• Relocated skate park

• Relocated police
station

• Relocated & 
improved playpark

• Relocated scout hut

• Improved river public
realm,

• Retained toilets, 
youth centre and  
hairdresser building

• 1,800 sq.ft drive-thru

Electric Charging Points

Proposed New 25m Indoor  
Swimming Pool with  

Retractable Glass Roof

New Town Centre signage  
and enhanced bridge link

Enhanced bridge link

Feeder route to Western  
end of High Street

Feeder route to Eastern  
end of High Street

New Food Storeand  
Car Park acting as an  
anchor and feeder to  

the town centre

IVYBRIDGE | FEASIBILITY STUDY | FEBRUARY 2019



6.0 Proposals | Sketch Visuals: Option 2

For illustrative purposes only and all subject to planning &
viability

IVYBRIDGE | FEASIBILITY STUDY | FEBRUARY 2019



6.0 Proposals | Sketch Visuals: Option 2

For illustrative purposes only and all subject to planning &
viability

IVYBRIDGE | FEASIBILITY STUDY | FEBRUARY 2019



6.0 Proposals | Sketch Visuals: Option 2

For illustrative purposes only and all subject to planning &
viability

IVYBRIDGE | FEASIBILITY STUDY | FEBRUARY 2019



LONDON  
WARWICK  
BIRMINGHAM  
MANCHESTE
R  GLASGOW  
LEEDS  
CANTERBUR
Y  DUBLIN

@CWrightarch  
corstorphinewright  
corstorphine-wright  
contact@cw-architects.co.uk 
www.corstorphine-
wright.com



Community Housing Delivery – Capital Requirements

NOT FOR PUBLICATION
Appendix 2 & 3 of this report contain exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3

of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 (information relating to the 
financial and business affairs of the Council)

To recommend to Council:  

1) To approve community housing development expenditure of up to 
£8.5m to build out four community housing schemes delivering 55 
residential units as set out in this report

2) To approve funding of up to £8.5m to build the schemes from a 
combination of internal borrowing and external borrowing (from the 
Public Works Loan Board)

3) That specialist treasury management advice is taken on the 
optimum way of financing the community housing schemes

4) To delegate authority to Head of Assets Practice & S151 Officer to 
approve associated long leaseholds and disposals in consultation 
with the Leader of the Council

 

Report to: Executive 

Date: 14 March 2019

Title: Community Housing Delivery – Capital 
Requirements

Portfolio Area: Cllr Tucker - Assets

Date next steps can 
be taken:

Council 21st March 2019

Authors: Rob Ellis
Community Housing Lead
Rob.Ellis@swdevon.gov.uk 
Lisa Buckle
S151 Officer
Lisa.Buckle@swdevon.gov.uk

mailto:Rob.Ellis@swdevon.gov.uk


Community Housing Delivery – Capital Requirements

NOT FOR PUBLICATION
Appendix 2 & 3 of this report contain exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3

of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 (information relating to the 
financial and business affairs of the Council)

1.1 Executive summary: 
1.2 This Report sets out the following proposals: 
1.3 To fund the construction of the first four community housing 

projects (South Brent (17 units), St Ann’s Chapel (13 units), 
Brixton (8 units) and Kingsbridge (17 units) as outlined in the 
business cases in Appendix 2. 

1.4 That the Head of Assets, in consultation with the Head of Paid 
Service, the s151 officer and the Lead Member for Assets is 
given delegated authority to approve expenditure of up to 
£8.5m from a combination of internal borrowing and external 
borrowing to fund the construction of each scheme in 
accordance with business cases. Borrowing would be drawn 
down following planning consent and linked to entering into 
construction contracts. Lending will be reimbursed upon sale of 
property (open market, rented and discount purchase units) 
following completion of the development (typically 12 – 18 
months from commencement of the loan term)

2 Background
1.1 The Community Housing Strategy was put in place to support 

the development of homes accessible to those with local 
connections for whom the cost of market housing (to purchase 
and rent) is beyond their reach. The lack of such housing is 
having an adverse impact on the underlying vitality and 
sustainability of local communities. 

1.2 Most projects are being delivered via exception planning policy 
enabling affordable housing delivery through reduced land 
value (£10,000 / unit maximum) and cross subsidisation from 
the sale of a number of open market units.

1.3 Design and planning work is being met through a Government 
grant of £1.88m paid to SHDC in 2017 to facilitate the delivery 
of community housing schemes across the district. These 
monies are financing a dedicated team (1.5 FTE employees) 
and external consultants, as required. It is proposed that such 
costs will be reimbursed following completion of a development 
to enable the further projects to be funded. 

1.4 Last September, Council approved a commercial property 
strategy and an upper borrowing limit of £75m.  An illustrative 
appendix was attached to the covering report (accessible via 
modern.gov) which highlighted the need for PWLB borrowing to 
cover the construction costs and ongoing rental properties for 



Community Housing Delivery – Capital Requirements

NOT FOR PUBLICATION
Appendix 2 & 3 of this report contain exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3

of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 (information relating to the 
financial and business affairs of the Council)

the community led housing scheme.  The indicative amount 
allocated at that time was a total of £8m.  An extract from that 
appendix is shown below: 

1.5 The pipeline of projects is growing, with commencement of 
construction of the first four sites planned in the financial year 
2019 /20 and further potential sites in the frame

1.6 Projects are required to meet identified housing need and 
actively involve a representative community body (Community 
Land Trust, Parish or Town Council). Housing needs 
assessments identify the mix of different types of affordable 
housing which will usually include discount purchase and 
affordable rented units as well as some open market units to 
cross subsidise the affordable element and ensure such 
housing is truly affordable to rent or buy for local people. 

1.7 The intention is that the affordable rented element of a 
community housing scheme will be acquired by the SHDC upon 
completion and therefore contribute towards the authority’s 
wider objective to build its’ portfolio of rented housing stock. It 
is intended that such investment will be financed from 
borrowing. Specific proposals will include detailed business 
cases, and management proposals for such rented units

1.8 Government recognises that infrastructure costs to “open up” 
community housing projects are often high and hence has 
made available infrastructure grants which are being 
administered by Homes England. SHDC bid in for grant for two 
of the four schemes to be built in 2019/20 calendar year. 
Homes England have awarded capital grant of £400k for the 
South Brent project and an application for grant has been 
lodged for the Kingsbridge project (£530k).  

1.9 South Hams is utilising modular build methods which will assist 
in delivering cost savings, reduce construction risk and improve 
delivery timetables. 



Community Housing Delivery – Capital Requirements

NOT FOR PUBLICATION
Appendix 2 & 3 of this report contain exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3

of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 (information relating to the 
financial and business affairs of the Council)

2  Community Housing Programme Update 

2.1 The table contained in Appendix 3 details the five schemes 
programmed for construction in 2019 / 20 which contributes 
towards SHDC’s 5 year target (table below). It is proposed that 
the construction of 4 of these projects will be funded by SHDC 
and the fifth (Dartmouth) will be financed and owned by 
Dartmouth United Charities.

2.2 The community housing programme strategy envisaged a 5 
year development pipeline of 82 completions as detailed in the 
table below. Due to the encouraging early interest from 
communities in partnering with SHDC to delivery housing 
projects, it is anticipated this target will be exceeded, subject 
to finance.

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 Total
Planning 
application (total 
units)

22 30 30 30 30 144

Commence 
construction

22 30 30 30 112

Completion 22 30 30 82
Note: Figures provide contingency for re-design / unit number reduction

3 Proposed Funding arrangements to finance 2019 / 20 
project development 

3.1 There are three distinct funding stages in SHDC’s community 
housing project development programme:

3.1.1 Scheme design and planning process up to the point a project 
has planning consent, has been fully costed and a contract is 
in place for the commencement of construction. This stage is 
being funded through the Community Housing Fund grant 
with costs incurred being reimbursed at the end of a project, 
such that these costs can be reinvested in subsequent 
projects thus providing revolving funding to enable the 
programme to continue

3.1.2 Construction finance over the construction term (detailed 
below)

3.1.3 Long term investment in completed rented property, where 
the net yield will cover the cost of the loan. Current rates for 
50 year borrowing are 2.52% against a net yield of 3.5% - 
4% (based on local housing allowance rental levels), thus 
providing a sufficient cushion against the cost of borrowing. 



Community Housing Delivery – Capital Requirements

NOT FOR PUBLICATION
Appendix 2 & 3 of this report contain exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3

of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 (information relating to the 
financial and business affairs of the Council)

3.2 The capital expenditure of the first four projects is estimated to 
amount to £8.37 m and these figures are based on 
comprehensive cost analysis by cost consultants. This sum 
includes a construction contingency of 10%, construction 
management / supervision and land purchase, where 
applicable (at circa £10,000 / plot) 

3.3 Borrowing costs will be reimbursed through property sales 
upon completion of the development, comprising a mix of open 
market units, discount purchase affordable housing and rented 
affordable. 

3.4 A breakdown of the Capital expenditure, receipts from sales 
and development mix is detailed in Appendix 2.  For the 
purposes of our financial projection an interest rate of 2.7% 
has been assumed. It is proposed that funding of up to £8.5m 
to fund construction will be from a combination of internal 
borrowing and external borrowing (from the Public Works Loan 
Board). Specialist treasury management advice will be taken to 
ensure the optimum way of financing the schemes is deployed.

5.0 Implications 

Implications Relevant 
to 

proposals 
Y/N

Details and proposed measures to address 

Legal/
Governance

Y Procurement contracts by principle contractors and loan 
agreement 

Financial Y It is proposed that SHDC will fund up to £8.5m for the 
schemes from a combination of internal borrowing and 
external borrowing (from the Public Works Loan Board) to 
fund the construction of the first four community housing 
development projects, (South Brent (17 units), St Ann’s 
Chapel (13 units), Brixton (8 units) and Kingsbridge (17 
units). Other sources of funding will be from any capital 
receipts yielded from open market sales and s106 affordable 
housing contributions or any other unallocated or available 
Council reserve or capital receipt. Funding will need to be 
sourced when it is required. Specialist treasury management 
advice will be taken on the optimum way of financing these 
schemes

SHDC will recoup this expenditure through the sale of 
market units, affordable housing for sale at discount and 
rented units. In respect of the South Brent project, where 
affordable units are to be built as a custom build scheme by 
South Brent Community Land Trust (SBCLT), 12 serviced 



Community Housing Delivery – Capital Requirements

NOT FOR PUBLICATION
Appendix 2 & 3 of this report contain exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3

of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 (information relating to the 
financial and business affairs of the Council)

plots will be sold to the SBCLT. 

Funding for the first two schemes (St Ann’s Chapel and 
South Brent) will be required in July 2019 with Brixton and 
Kingsbridge following on later in the year. 

The Council legally does not have the ability to borrow in 
advance of need.  It is therefore not possible to guarantee 
the interest rate that will be achieved. Specialist treasury 
management advice will be sought on the approval of this 
report’s recommendations.   Any borrowing decision is in 
line with the Council’s adopted Treasury Management 
Strategy and Affordable Borrowing Limits.  
 

Risks Y Risk

Planning permission not 
achieved and development 
does not proceed

Project cost escalation 

Shortfall in proceeds from 
sale of market, discount or 
rented units

Mitigation

In all cases the 
developments are 
responding to demonstrable 
local need, in close 
collaboration with the 
community. Close dialogue 
with planning and 
compliance with policy. Work 
undertaken on an 
incremental basis

Project supervision contract 
with supervising engineers. 
The economic model allows a 
10% contingency sum for 
client’s variations. Binding 
contractual protections will 
be put in place with 
liquidated damages to 
prevent overrun 

                                
Realistic market values 
within economic model 
providing contingency. 
Flexibility within planning 
consent to justify greater 
proportion of market units or 
flex level of discount (to a 
maximum of 80%). Such 
changes would need to be 
proven necessary through  
viability appraisal. Potential 
further grant through Homes 
England



Community Housing Delivery – Capital Requirements

NOT FOR PUBLICATION
Appendix 2 & 3 of this report contain exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3

of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 (information relating to the 
financial and business affairs of the Council)

Reduced demand for 
discount purchase units or 
failure for purchasers to 
obtain mortgages

Interest rate rise

Delivering to demonstrable 
need with waiting list for 
property. Further 
contingency that units for 
purchase at a discount can 
become rented units 

PWLB rates fixed at the point 
of drawdown, such that the 
economic model will be fully 
verified based on the rate of 
borrowing at the time 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications
Equality and 

Diversity
N N/A  

Safeguarding N N/A

Community 
Safety, Crime 
and Disorder

N N/A

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing

N N/A

Other 
implications

N N/A

Appendices:
Appendix 1: Community Housing Project Schedule
EXEMPT
Appendix 2: Cash-flow forecast
Appendix 3: Details of Community Housing Scheme Costs

Approval and clearance of report
Process checklist Completed
Portfolio Holder briefed Yes
SLT Rep briefed Yes
Relevant Exec Director sign off Yes
Data protection issues considered Yes
If exempt information, public (part 1) report also 
drafted

No





Update to February 2019

Village/Town No of 

Units

Description Target 

Planning 

Application

Target 

Constructio

n

Current Status Next Steps

South Brent

17

SHDC working in collaboration 

with South Brent CLT. SHDC is 

project managing & funding the 

scheme to enable serviced 

affordable plots to be transferred 

to the CLT to facilate custom 

build. Close engagement with 

Dartmoor National Park. A good 

level site on the edge of South 

Brent.

Planning 

Application In
2019 - 2020

Land option completed

£400,000 Homes England 

Infrastructure grant secured 

Project cash flow compiled

Draft Heads of Terms / S106 

commitments completed

Design and Access statement (DAS) 

updated

Planning application awaiting 

decision

1) Construction procurement - Q1 '19

2) Stage 4 design work 

3) Public works loan board finance – 

(Construction serviced plots/ open 

market units)  

4) CLT applying for construction finance 

for affordable custom build units

5) Timber frame manufacturers 

agreement

St Anns Chapel

13

Exception planning site on the 

edge of St Ann's Chapel. SHDC 

working in collaboration with 

Parish Council (acting as 

community interfacing body). 
Planning 

Application In
2019 - 2020

Option terms signed 

Draft Heads of Terms / S106 

commitments completed

Planning application in (Ref: 

421418/FUL)

Archaeological survey clear

Bigbury NP under Regulation 14

1) Construction procurement - Q1 '19

2) Stage 4 design work 

3) Meeting Planners

4) S106 Monies available 

5) Public works loan board finance – 

(Construction)  

6) Timber frame manufacturers 

agreement

Brixton

8

Owned by SHDC, flat level parcel 

of land with good connection to 

services. Development of site 

included in Brixton Neighbourhood 

Plan Q1 2019 Late 19/20

Harrison Sutton Architects have 

completed a two story version of the 

development against 3 story with 

parkuing under the houses. Ongoing 

dialogue with PC/NP groups to 

ensure that the best solution is 

sought.  

1) Work up planning application

2) Possessory title registration 

3) Parking restriction on road resolved 

through good design

4) Continued appraisal of build costs

5) Neighbourhood Plan/Community 

consultation

Kingsbridge

17

Owned by SHDC. Access to site 

challenging and expensive. 

Restrictive covenant in place 

impacting access arrangements.

Q2 2019 2020

Town Council voted to support 

scheme and grant application 

Homes England Grant Application 

£530,000 for infrastructure gap 

funding

Arcadis have completed access 

design & costed scheme

Agreement reached re removing 

restrictive covenant on access

1) Ground Investigation work 

2) Appoint detailed design & planning

3) Conclude deed of variation re 

restrictive covenant

4) Research volumetric modular 

construction

SHDC Community Housing Overview (DIRECT INVOLVEMENT)



Dartmouth

4

Small parcel of amenity land 

owned by SHDC which forms part 

of lease to Townstal Hall. Site 

would accommodate four 1 bed 

units.

Dartmouth United Charities to 

develop with SHDC

2019 2019/20

Successful factory visit with 

Dartmouth United Charities 

Townstal Hall lease surrender 

agreed

Need and allocations determined 

through DHC

Innovative modular design of 1 bed 

properties

100% affordable project

1) Finalise contractual arrangements 

2) Undertake Site investigation

3) Progress design/parking restraints 

4) Agree financial model & funding

5) Almshouse Consortium Ltd Homes 

England Grant application

Cornwood

10

Heads of terms agreed with 

Delamore Estate to bring forward 

a community housing scheme in 

the village.  The estate own 3 

potentially suitable parcels of land 

and willing to work with SHDC to 

bring forward a scheme working in 

collaboration with Cornwood 

Parish Council. DNPA have 

indicated support in principle. 

2019 2020

Discussions with Parish -seeking 

close involvement with design - 

potential challenge

Option terms agreed with landowner 

but on hold until selection of best 

site (3 options)

1) Agree design brief

2) Conclude cost appraisal

3) Select favoured site

4) Complete option

5) Clarify needs assessment

6) Appoint development team

Dittisham

tbc

Suitable site on edge of the village 

(green site in JLP call for sites). 

Pedestrian access solution 

required - under review. 
tbc tbc

Willing landowner; County Highways 

require a pedestrian access to 

village ahead of progressing scheme 

design & community consultation

1) Pedestrian access solution                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         

2) Agree land terms                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          

3)Housing needs assessment                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        

4) Progress scheme design                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      

5) Community collaboration                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              

Loddiswell

tbc

Parish Council keen to support 

community housing scheme, 

subject to identifying housing need 

and securing suitable site
tbc tbc

Meeting held with Parish Council; 

housing needs survey being 

undertaken; prelimiary landowner 

investigations

1) Housing needs assessment offered 

FOC                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        

2) Identify suitable sites                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         

3) Community Collaboration                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         

4) Scheme design 

Modbury Potential for community housing 

scheme if suitable land holding 

can be identified

Dialogue with Neighbourhood Plan 

Group; potential land options 

identified & initial agent discussions;



Stoke Gabriel

12

Parcel of land offered ; Well 

organised and supported CLT v 

keen to progress a scheme

tbc tbc

Access solution has been agreed for 

up to 12 units; landscape constraint 

challenging - likely to result in 

objection from landscape & AONB 

team; ecological surveys completed 

with impact mitigation strategy 

identified. 

1) Decision on materiality of landscape / 

AONB impact  from development to 

decide whether SHDC promote scheme 

in collaboration with CLT

Thurlestone

6

Neighbourhood plan supportive of 

Community Housing Scheme. Site 

to be identified
tbc tbc

Ongoing dialogue with Thurleston 

Parish Council

1) Identify Sites

2) Project design

East Prawle

12

Suitable site on edge of the village 

(ex RAF camp field). Landowner 

keen to support a scheme
2020 2021

Meeting held with landowner who is 

supportive of proposal; 

1) Housing needs assessment                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        

2) Concept design                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        

3) Community Collaboration                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         

4) Secure land option 

East Portlemouth

4

Land owned by Waterhouse Trust 

(Community Housing Charity) ; 

keen to replace a single unit with 3 

affordable units to accommodate 

young people. Project will be 

undertaken by the Waterhouse 

Trust

2019 2020

SHDC is supporting Trust funding 

initial highway consultancy; 

topographical survey; preliminary 

design

1) Complete SI                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      

2) Development design                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        

3) Planning application                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       

Co-housing Retirement Scheme

15

Dialogue with retirement group re 

collaboration with SHDC to 

progress Co-housing Self-build  

within S Hams. Model could be 

integrated with wider community 

housing prgramme

Initial meetings held; to scope out 

structure of arrangement and how 

this can be integrated with planning 

policy context

1) Agree development structure with Co-

housing Group                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       

2) Identify site                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       

3) Agree policy context                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     

4) Secure land option

Noss and Newton
SHDC working with Noss and 

Newton CLT to bring forward a 

high quality affordable led 1 and 2 

bedroom rental housing scheme

Ringmore SHDC in discussions with PC 

supporting Parishioners who 

expressed an interest in learning 

more about CLT's in their 

Neighbourhood Plan 

questionnaire



Dartington Dartington Trust

2019 2020

Community housing platform plus 

Cohousing retirement scheme

Harberton Oak Tree Field

10

VHI scheme. £25k prelim grant 

from SHDC. Access constraints tba

1) Planning granted

Totnes Clay Park

27 Planning consent granted 2019 2020

£215k support from SHDC to date. 

Funding gap addressed through 

Homes England & SHDC S106 

contribution

1) Planning granted

Totnes Atmos

57 Planning consent granted 2019 2021

Planning consent granted through 

right to build. Development design 

SHDC Community Housing Overview (IN-DIRECT INVOLVEMENT)











Report to: South Hams Executive 

Date: 14 March 2019

Title: Public Toilet Project

Portfolio Area: Environment Services

Wards Affected: All

Relevant Scrutiny Committee:

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained:

Y 

Date next steps can be taken:  

Author: Cathy Aubertin Role: Head of Environment 
Services Practice

Contact: Cathy.Aubertin@swdevon.gov.uk

Recommendations:  

It is recommended that the Executive resolves to:

1. Approve the installation of Pay on Entry (PoE) equipment at Fore 
Street public toilets, Kingsbridge.

2. Approve the installation of PoE equipment at the three public 
toilets in Totnes (Civic Hall, Coronation Road and Steamer Quay) 
unless an alternative funding solution is offered by the Town 
Council by 28 February 2019 (verbal update to be given).  It is 
further recommended that the decision on any alternative funding 
solution offered by the Town Council is assessed for financial and 
operational viability by the Head of Environment Services Practice 
in conjunction with the Leader and Portfolio Holder in order to 
ensure it provides adequate compensation for any income not 
generated through PoE.
 

3. Approve the proposed approach of Salcombe Town Council 
working in partnership with the Salcombe Harbour Board to take 
over the management and running of the Salcombe Estuary 
Toilets for a 2 year trial period. This proposal requires a transfer 
of the 2019/20 service budget to facilitate the pilot and, in the 
first year, includes a £9,000 contribution towards the roof repairs 
costs at Mill Bay.  It is further recommended that the decision on 

file://swdevon.lan/data/documents/Environment%20Services/Corporate/Council%20reports/2016/O&S/Cathy.Aubertin@swdevon.gov.uk


whether any alternative funding solution offered by the Town 
Council is financially and operationally viable is taken by the Head 
of Environment Services Practice in conjunction with the Leader 
and Portfolio Holder.

4. Following further consultation, retain toilet services at the 
following locations until 30 September 2019, where Parish 
Councils have decided against a full asset transfer:

 Newton Ferrers (Newton & Noss Parish)
 Staverton.

5. Following further consultation, retain the public toilet service at 
Holbeton until 30 September 2019 only, unless a full asset 
transfer is agreed by the Parish Council.  

1. Executive summary 
1.1 This report requests that Members consider the above 

recommendations and resolve to proceed as recommended for each 
facility or group of facilities.

2. Background 
2.1 Members will be aware that the public toilet service was previously 

considered, as part of the budget process, on 1st February and 26th 
April this year, where decisions in respect of the way forward were 
resolved.  Update reports have been presented to Executive Members 
on a regular basis throughout this project.

2.2 Resolutions were made in respect of the majority of public toilets at 
the Executive meeting on 22 November 2018, although decisions in 
respect of the three facilities in Totnes (Civic Hall, Coronation Road 
and Steamer Quay) and the three rural facilities in Holbeton, Newton 
Ferrers (Newton and Noss Parish) and Staverton were the subject of 
a further consultation following consideration by the Overview & 
Scrutiny Panel at its meeting on 12 December 2018. 

2.3 In respect of the remaining public toilets included in this review, a 
summary of the resolutions made and actions taken thus far is 
attached at Appendix A.

2.4 This report contains updated information in respect of the 
outstanding facilities:

i. Kingsbridge – Fore Street
Kingsbridge Town Council has confirmed that it accepts that 
PoE will be installed at Fore Street public toilets, and that it 
doesn’t wish to make an annual payment in lieu of this.

ii. Totnes –
 Civic Hall



 Coronation Road
 Steamer Quay

Totnes Town Council has confirmed that it would like to submit 
an alternative funding proposal to the District Council, so that 
the installation of PoE is avoided.  At the time of writing the 
report, the proposal had not been received, so a verbal update 
will be given to the Executive.

iii. Salcombe estuary – 
 Mill Bay, East Portlemouth
 Ferry Steps, East Portlemouth
 Batson Creek, Salcombe
 North Sands, Salcombe
 South Sands, Salcombe
 Whitestrand, Salcombe

Salcombe Town Council and Salcombe Harbour Board are 
working in partnership in respect of the above public toilets 
and, following discussions with officers, made an outline 
proposal as detailed in the previous report to the Executive.  

In order to facilitate the proposal, it is recommended that 
responsibility for all six facilities listed above is transferred to 
Salcombe Town Council, with effect from 1 October 2019, who 
will work in partnership with Salcombe Harbour Board to 
provide the public toilet service at these locations.

The partnership has requested that all six facilities be leased 
to them for two years initially, to give them time to establish 
seasonal footfall and any logistical challenges which may be 
faced in managing the service.

At the end of two years, assuming that all has gone as 
anticipated by all parties, four facilities (Mill Bay, Ferry Steps, 
North Sands and South Sands) would be the subject of an 
asset transfer from the District Council to Salcombe Town 
Council, and that the details of a more permanent asset 
transfer be work up with the Town Council during the second 
year.
 
Batson Creek and Whitestrand will remain in the ownership of 
the District Council, so that any future development of the 
sites can be considered at the appropriate time. 

The partnership has requested that the District Council 
transfer funds equivalent to the running costs it would have 
had to meet should the facilities have stayed under the 
management of the District Council, minus anticipated PoE 
income, and this amount is yet to be finalised.



The Mill Bay toilet facility requires essential maintenance, 
estimated at £18,000, to repair the roof which is currently 
leaking.  The Salcombe proposal requests that the District 
Council fund half of this cost in addition to revenue running 
costs (minus previously-anticipated PoE income).  The facility 
was previously resolved for permanent closure on 22 
November 2018.  It is recommended that the District Council 
funds 50% of the roof repair costs and contributes towards the 
running costs of this facility, as the reason the facility was 
recommended for closure previously was because of the cost 
of the refurbishment, together with the inability to install a 
reliable PoE system due to the lack of electricity.  Should the 
facility be managed by the partnership, the District Council will 
not be faced with the same level of financial constraint.

Future long-term revenue funding for the toilets would need 
to be considered by the District Council in consultation with 
the Salcombe partnership as part of any Council-wide 
considerations of the wider public toilet service during the 
second year of the initial agreement, and an agreement 
reached on how this would be treated at the point of transfer.

The potential to develop Batson Creek and Whitestrand sites 
is to be kept under review and, should an asset transfer 
become a feasible option, a recommendation would be made 
to the Executive as part of the overall scheme detail.

iv. Holbeton, Newton & Noss and Staverton Parish Councils 
– 

 Holbeton
 Newton Ferrers
 Staverton

Members will recall that, following consideration by the 
Overview & Scrutiny Panel, officers were instructed to re-open 
negotiations with all three Parish Council and this has been 
done. 

All three Parish Councils were requested to respond to the 
District Council by 20 February 2019.  At the time of writing 
the report, no response had been received from the Parish.

Both Newton & Noss and Staverton Parish Councils requested 
that the Council reconsider this matter and continue to fund 
and manage the facilities.  However, it is recommended that 
all three should close, in line with previous decisions made 
(unless an alternative feasible proposal is received from 
Holbeton Parish Council).

In respect of all three facilities, should an asset transfer be 
requested by April 2019, it will be accommodated, giving the 



Parishes further opportunity to consider this matter if they 
wish.

3. Outcomes/outputs 
3.1 Consultation has already been undertaken with Towns, Parishes and 

other stakeholders, and this will continue as necessary in order to 
ensure the smooth completion of all recommendations.

3.2 Press releases have gone out and Towns and Parishes in particular 
have engaged in constructive dialogue with both Members and 
officers.

3.3 It should be noted that free access to public toilets will continue to 
be available for disabled customers, who are able to purchase a 
RADAR key.  This is a national scheme allowing anyone who is 
registered as disabled to access disabled toilet facilities.

4. Options available and consideration of risk 
4.1 Each facility above has been the subject of an individual 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment.

5. Implications 

Implications Relevant 
to 
proposals 
Y/N 

Previously circulated to the Executive. 

Legal/Governance Under s87 of the Public Health Act 1936, the 
Council has the power to provide public toilets and 
to charge a fee where it is reasonable to do so.

Financial Appendix C sets out the financial information.

Risk The closure of public toilets is likely to result in 
adverse publicity for the District Council. However, 
there is sound information to demonstrate the 
requirement to make the associated financial 
savings and, where possible, alternative solutions 
have been highlighted in the Comprehensive 
Impact Assessment.

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications

Equality and 
Diversity

A comprehensive impact assessment has been 
completed in respect of this each facility which 
shows that there are limited numbers of customers 
which are adversely by these recommendations.



Safeguarding No implications.  

Community 
Safety, Crime 
and Disorder

The implementation of PoE at the facilities above is 
likely to have a positive impact in respect of anti-
social behaviour and vandalism.

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing

As per the Comprehensive Impact Assessment.

Other 
implications

None.

Supporting Information

Approval and clearance of report

Process checklist Completed
Portfolio Holder briefed Yes/No
SLT Rep briefed Yes/No
Relevant  Exec Director sign off (draft) Yes/No
Data protection issues considered Yes/No
If exempt information, public (part 1) report 
also drafted. (Cabinet/Scrutiny)

Yes/No

Appendices

Appendix A – summary of resolutions and actions taken to date 
Appendix B – Salcombe proposal



South Hams Public Toilets - summary of resolutions and actions taken to date APPENDIX A

Parish/ Town Toilet Current Position Ownership Resolutions

Bigbury Bigbury
Car park charge increase been agreed by Parish Council and subject to separate 

Executive report.
Leased

Alternative solution resolved by Executive 22 November 2018.  Parking 

charges to be considered 7 February 2019.

Dartmouth Manor Gardens Close. Owned by SHDC
Closure with no asset transfer to Dartmouth Town Council resolved by 

Executive 22 November 2018.

Dittisham The Ham Pay on Entry to be installed.

Leased from 

Dittisham Parish 

Council

PoE resolved by Executive 22 November 2018.

Mill Bay Owned by SHDC

Ferry Steps Owned by SHDC

Holbeton Holbeton
Renegioiation commenced with Parish Council.  Update report to be presented 

to the Executive 14 March 2019.
Owned by SHDC

Closure resolved by Executive 22 November 2018.  However, called in 

by O&S 12 December 2018.  Reconsidered by Executive 13 December 

2018 where it was resolved to reopen discussions with Holbeton 

Parish Council.

Ivybridge Glanvilles Mill Pay on Entry to be installed Owned by SHDC PoE resolved by Executive 22 November 2018.

Kingsbridge Fore Street
Awaiting proposal from Kingsbridge Town Council. PoE to be installed if not 

received by 28 February 2019.
Owned by SHDC Alternative solution resolved by Executive 22 November 2018.  

Higher Ferry Close. Owned by SHDC Closure resolved by Executive 22 November 2018.  

Lower Ferry
Discussions in respect of an asset transfer (transfer of lease) are on-going with 

Kingswear Parish Council.

Leased from 

South Hams 

Housing (Live 

West)

Asset transfer resolved by Executive 22 November 2018.

Malborough Malborough Asset transfer agreed. Owned by SHDC Asset transfer resolved by Executive 22 November 2018.

Newton & Noss Newton Ferrers
Renegioiation commenced with Parish Council.  Update report to be presented 

to the Executive 14 March 2019.
owned by SHDC

Closure resolved by Executive 22 Novermber 2018.  However, called in 

by O&S 12 December 2018.  Reconsidered by Executive 13  December 

2018 where it was resolved to reopen discussions with Newton & 

Noss Parish Council.

Batson Creek Owned by SHDC

North Sands Owned by SHDC

South Sands Owned by SHDC

East Portlemouth 

Kingswear

Proposal received from Salcombe Town Council and Harbour Board partnership.

Proposal to be considered by Executive 7 February 2019 (Executive 

previously resolved to close Mill Bay at its meeting on 22 November 

2018).

Proposal to be considered by Executive 7 February 2019.Proposal received from Salcombe Town Council and Harbour Board partnership.

Salcombe



Whitestrand Owned by SHDC

Cliff House Gardens

Refurbishment is being costed to allow the Salcombe Town Council and 

Harbour Board partnership to consider an asset transfer.  However, should this 

not be proposed, the facility will remain closed.

Owned by SHDC
Closure resolved by Executive 22 November 2018 with the facility not 

to be re-opend in Spring 2019 following the winter closure.

Shipley Bridge Building to be returned to Dartmoor National Park Authority (DNPA).
DNPA/ South 

West Lakes

Withdrawal of cleaning service resolved by Executive 22 November 

2018.

South Brent Asset transfer agreed. Owned by SHDC Asset transfer resolved by Executive 22 November 2018.

South Huish Hope Cove Pay on Entry to be installed. Owned by SHDC PoE resolved by Executive 22 November 2018.

South Milton South Milton
Discussions in respect of a 75% contribution towards running costs on-going 

with nearby café owner and the National Trust.

Closure resolved by Exective 22 November 2018 unless a 75% 

contribution towards running costs is agreed.

Staverton Staverton
Renegioiation commenced with Parish Council.  Update report to be presented 

to the Executive 14 March 2019.
Owned by SHDC

Closure resolved by Executive 22 Novermber 2018.  However, called in 

by O&S 12 December 2018.  Reconsidered by Executive 13  December 

2018 where it was resolved to reopen discussions with Staverton 

Parish Council.

Stoke Fleming Stoke Fleming Close. Owned by SHDC Closure resolved by Executive 22 November 2018.

Stokenham Torcross Tank
Car park charge increase been agreed by Parish Council and subject to separate 

Executive report.
Leased

Alternative solution resolved by Executive 22 November 2018.  Parking 

charges to be considered 7 February 2019.

Strete Gate Strete Gate
Car park charge increase been agreed by Parish Council and subject to separate 

Executive report.
Owned by SHDC

Alternative solution resolved by Executive 22 November 2018.  Parking 

charges to be considered 7 February 2019.

Civic Hall Leased

Coronation Road Owned by SHDC

Steamer Quay Owned by SHDC

Thurlestone Thurlestone Asset transfer agreed in principle. Owned by SHDC Asset transfer resolved by Executive 22 November 2018.

Bittaford Asset transfer agreed but to be delayed until April 2020. Owned by SHDC

Ugborough Asset transfer agreed. Owned by SHDC

Wembury Wembury Allow lease with National Trust to expire in June 2020
Leased from 

National Trust

Resolved by Executive on 22 November 2018 to allow lease to expire 

in June 2020.  The lease states we must put the land back to original 

condition, ie remove building if the Landlord is mindful to request this

Asset transfers resolved by Executive 22 November 2018.

South Brent

Totnes

Ugborough

Awaiting proposal from Totnes Town Council. PoE to be installed if not received 

by 28 February 2019.

PoE resolved by Executive 22 November 2018.  However, called in by 

O&S 12 December 2018.  Reconsidered by Executive 13 December 

2018 where it was resoloved to reopen discussions with Totnes Town 

Council.



17th Jan 2019

Salcombe Town Council and Harbour Board proposals for public toilets

These proposals include the public toilets at Millbay, Ferry steps, Batson, Whitestrand, North 
Sands and South Sands.

1) STC & SHB would take over the running of and all costs associated with the six 
toilets from 1st October 2019.

2) This would initially run as a trial period for two years with the expectation of full asset 
transfer in Oct 2021 to STC with the exception (at this stage) of Batson and 
Whitestrand.

3) From figures supplied by SHDC, the running costs of these toilets is around £98K 
with £18K revenue from pay-on-entry if it were installed. This gives a net cost of 
around £80K per annum to SHDC. (Cathy did mention at the meeting that the running 
costs had now risen to £108K so this would mean a greater ‘net cost’.)

4) SHDC would pass this net cost to STC but POE is not to be installed. STC & SHB 
also understand that this ‘net cost’ would not be fixed in perpetuity but would like an 
initial guarantee of this figure for a minimum of two years.

5) STC & SHB would like a ‘visual’ survey of all toilets from SHDC and an estimate of 
any repair costs required.

6) We understand works are required to the Millbay toilets in the region of £18K. SHB 
would be prepared to share these capital costs with SHDC (£9K each.) It is felt that 
the savings from capital costs of not installing POE in any of the six toilets would 
outweigh this expenditure by SHDC fivefold.

7) It was mooted at the meeting that Millbay had been earmarked for closure. This is 
true but was not part of SHDC’s initial plans or cost savings. It was only when issues 
with the roof were uncovered that the POE was switched to closure. Given that 
capital repair costs of £18K are included in these proposals (see above,) STC & SHB 
feel it is only fair Millbay toilets are treated as the other council public toilets and their 
‘net costs’ be included in these proposals.

8) STC & SHB would like to keep open the option of increasing car parking and/or boat 
storage charges as a way of raising revenue to help running costs – similar to Bigbury 
and Torcross. We understand there may be some legal hurdles but in our minds the 
Salcombe car parks should be treated as a ‘destination Salcombe’ with many of the 
users taking advantage of the public toilets across the town and East Portlemouth.

9) STC & SHB accept that Cliff House Garden toilets are earmarked for closure. 
However we would like to have an idea of the capital costs required to bring them 
back into use. It may be we choose to carry out the works but again accept there 
would be no provision from SHDC to help with running costs.

Julian Brazil 

on behalf of Salcombe Town Council and the Salcombe Harbour Board





Report to: Executive   

Date: 14 March 2019  

Title: Peer Challenge Action Plan 

Portfolio Area: Leader of the Council 

Wards Affected: All

Urgent Decision:    N Approval and 
clearance obtained:

Y

Author: Neil Hawke Role: Support Services Specialist 
Manager 

Contact: 01803 861323 neil.hawke@swdevon.gov.uk 

Recommendations:  

That Executive RESOLVES to:

1. Agree that the Peer Challenge Action Plan as set out in 
Appendix A be implemented; 

2. Agree that the Local Government Association be asked to 
undertake a visit by the end of 2020 to follow up on 
progress in delivering the action plan; and

3. RECOMMEND to Council that a Joint Working Group be 
convened and the draft Terms of Reference for that group  
be approved as set out in Appendix B.

1. Executive summary 

1.1 In 2018, the Council requested that the Local Government 
Association (“LGA”) undertake a Peer Challenge of South 
Hams District Council, jointly with West Devon Borough 
Council in order to identify their strengths and any areas for 
improvement. 

1.2 The LGA concluded their review and made a number of 
recommendations to the Councils in its report.

1.3 The LGA report was considered by Council at its meeting on 
21 February 2019 where it resolved that a Joint Working 
Group be formed to consider the recommendations and agree 
an action plan for consideration by Executive 

mailto:neil.hawke@swdevon.gov.uk


1.4 A Joint Working Group consisting of Members from both 
South Hams District Council and West Devon Borough 
Council met on 25 February 2019 to consider possible actions 
to address the LGA recommendations

1.5 The Peer Challenge Working Group action plan is set out in 
Appendix A to this report. 

1.6 Additionally, the Joint Working Group have proposed a Terms 
of Reference for their future remit as set out in Appendix B. 

2. Background

2.1 As the Council shares services (and therefore staff) with West 
Devon Borough Council, the Peer Challenge was a joint 
review but with individual recommendations for the 
Governance and Political element of the Council

2.2 A number of the LGA recommendations relate to ensuring 
effective joint working across the two Councils to ensure their 
future financial sustainability and to set a clear direction for 
both Councils

2.3 Following both South Hams and West Devon Council 
meetings in February, it was resolved to form a Joint Working 
Group in order to review the recommendations made by the 
LGA and to develop an action plan for the Councils to 
implement 

2.4 A Peer Challenge Joint Working Group consisting of 
Councillors Wright, Bastone and Baldry (South Hams) and 
Councillors Samuel, Edmonds and Kimber (West Devon) met, 
supported by officers, on 25 February 2019 in order to 
consider measures that could be implemented in the coming 
12-18 months

2.5 Progress is already being made in addressing a number of 
the recommendations such as developing Corporate Strategy 
Delivery Plans and undertaking a review of the Council senior 
management structures but Members have identified a 
number of areas where more work is required. 

2.6 The Peer Challenge Joint Working Group action plan is set out 
in Appendix A to this report.

2.7 A specific recommendation from the Local Government 
Association is that the Council should reconvene a version of 
the strategic Joint Steering Group with West Devon Borough 
Council as an essential part of plotting the future strategic 
direction. 

2.8 Members of the Peer Challenge Joint Working Group felt that 
where joint working groups have been convened to focus on 
specific issues (such as T18, Leisure and Waste Procurements 
and Joint Local Plan) they have resulted in successful 
outcomes that have benefited both Councils. 

2.9 This report therefore sets out Terms of Reference for a Joint 
Working Group to consider the recommendations of the Peer 
Challenge and monitor progress in delivering the action plan 
as set out in Appendix A. 



2.10 The work of the Joint Working Group in implementing the 
action plan will be reported to Overview and Scrutiny as per 
the February Council resolution.

2.11 The full Terms of Reference for the Joint Working Group are 
set out in Appendix B to this document. 

3 Options available and consideration of risk.

3.1 A Peer Challenge Joint Working Group was convened 
following resolution by Council in February 2019 in order to 
respond to the LGA recommendations and set out a clear 
action plan. There are two clear options. 

Option 1 – Implement the Action Plan, with 
recommendations that are relevant to both Councils 
being considered by the Joint Working Group 

3.2 The action plan has been developed by Members and Officers 
in order to address the recommendations and it is proposed 
that those actions now be implemented. 

3.3 There are some recommendations that are specific to either 
Council and while these are included in the action plan, will 
be decided upon and implemented by the relevant Council 
Leader or committee.

Option 2 – Delay implementation of the Action Plan 
until the new Council administration 

3.4 The decision could be taken to delay approval of the action 
plan and Joint Working Group meetings until after the May 
elections.

3.5 However, Council resolved in February that discussion take 
place to develop an action plan so that recommendations can 
be acted upon early and provide the new administration with 
a clear direction on actions to be implemented 

3.6 This option is therefore not recommended. 

4 Proposed Way Forward
4.1 To approve the action plan as set out in Appendix A to this 

report and; 
4.2 To agree the draft terms of reference included in Appendix 2 

to this report 
4.3 The draft action plan will be provided to the Local 

Government Association to enable them to follow up on 
progress within two years and for the LGA to include 
headlines from the action plan in their regional report 2019  



5. Implications 

Implications Relevant 
to 
proposals 
Y/N 

Legal/Governance Y There are no direct legal implications to this report but any 
Constitutional changes that are proposed in the action plan will 
be brought back to Members.  

Financial N There are no direct financial implications to this report. 

Risk Y 1. Action Plan is not agreed - Not agreeing the action plan 
at this stage will delay the ability to implement actions 
in response to specific LGA recommendations. The LGA 
will carry out a shorter follow up visit within two years 
to monitor progress. The actions have been formulated 
by, and agreed by, Members of both authorities 
through a Joint Working Group and are considered to 
address the LGA points. 

2. Lack of progress due to capacity - There are a number 
of action within the report that require implementing 
within the short to medium term. The Chief Executive 
will manage the resourcing of action plan delivery along 
with the Joint Working Group to ensure progress is 
made. Furthermore progress will be monitored through 
Overview and Scrutiny. 

3.  
Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications

Equality and 
Diversity

N None

Safeguarding N None  

Community 
Safety, Crime 
and Disorder

N None

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing

N None

Other 
implications

N None

Supporting Information

Appendix A – Peer Challenge Action Plan 
Appendix B – Joint Working Group Draft Terms of Reference  







Appendix A JWG Peer Challenge Action Plan

Peer Challenge Recommendation 1.

“Ensure there is both sufficient strategic capacity and direction to enable the Councils to effectively plan for and deliver 
their aspirations into the medium term”

The LGA said…. Therefore we will by Action Owner Progress Update
Initiate 
member/officer 
arrangements to 
agree the building 
blocks for a new 
council’s vision 
from May 2019.

1.1 Continue to hold joint Leader 
and Deputy Leader meetings of 
each Council and the Chief 
Executive 

1.2 Ensure that key officers 
commence work with Members 
from the very outset of the new 
administration (via Member 
induction) so that those 
relationships are formed from the 
outset 

Ongoing

May 2019 

Chief 
Executive / 
Leaders

Chief 
Executive 

These meetings 
recommenced 
recently and will 
meet on a 3 monthly 
basis

Key part of the 
Member induction 
plan 

1.3 Develop draft Corporate 
Strategy delivery plans with 
evidence base, KPI’s and projects 

Feb 2019 Extended 
Leadership 
Team 

Drafts completed – 
Feb19

Link the work on the 
new vision to a 
refresh of corporate 
and business 
planning 
arrangements 

More work is needed 
to ensure fuller 
member engagement 
on developing the 
corporate strategies 1.4 Hold full Member workshops to 

enable all Members to shape the 
draft plans for new Council to 
consider 

March 
2019

Commissionin
g Manager

Workshops held in 
both Councils in Feb 
2019 



Appendix A JWG Peer Challenge Action Plan

The LGA said…. Therefore we will by Action Owner Progress Update
1.5 Undertake engagement with 
Public, Businesses and Partners on 
Corporate Theme delivery plans on 
an ongoing basis for final 
refinement and approval by 
Members. 

June /July 
2019

All Members 
and Heads of 
Practice 

Commissioning 
Manager is currently 
developing a plan for 
the consultation.

Homes: A Housing 
Strategy should be 
produced, in 
association with 
partners, to set out 
housing need, delivery 
plans, funding, partner 
roles etc

1.6 Continue with the development 
of the Homes Strategy delivery 
plan and engage with the public 
and partners on our plans 

1.7 Develop proposals for 
affordable homes and drive forward 
place shaping work with 
communities and town centres 

June 2019 

 ongoing

Customer First 
Specialist 
Manager 

Restructure 
underway to ensure 
that at a Senior 
Management Level 
there is capacity to 
focus on driving this 
forward

Enterprise: An 
Economic growth 
strategy should be 
developed in 
association with 
partners, aligned to the 
Local Industrial 
Strategy being 
prepared by HOTSW

1.8 Develop a strategy for 
engaging with businesses –with 
Members taking a lead role in 
encouraging business growth and 
opportunities

1.9 Ensure that we have sufficient 
capacity to apply for grants such as 
the Future High Street fund 

September 
2019 

Portfolio 
Holder
Tom Jones 

Chief 
Executive & 
Tom Jones 

This will be a key 
element of the 
Enterprise Strategy 
currently being 
developed 

Restructure 
underway to ensure 
that at a Senior 
Management Level 
there is capacity to 
focus on driving this 
forward



Appendix A JWG Peer Challenge Action Plan

The LGA said…. Therefore we will by Action Owner Progress Update
Reconvene the 
Joint Steering 
Group (JSG)

It will be important to 
reconvene a version of 
the JSG. This is 
essential to plot the 
future strategic 
direction 

1.10 Build upon the success of 
previous & current joint working 
groups (such as Leisure, Waste, 
JLP) by considering and 
implementing joint working groups 
for specific projects. Proposal for 
an early joint working group to 
consider Customer Experience 

1.11 Develop a draft terms of 
reference for a future  strategic 
Joint Working Group 

April 2019 

March 
2019 

Leaders and 
relevant ELT 
member 

Monitoring 
Officer / 
Members 

Joint waste working 
group and JLP 
groups continues to 
meet 

Draft will be 
considered by 
Members in March 
2019 

Consider the 
appointment of a new 
post of Chief Executive

1.12 Recommend to Council that 
the current Executive Director be 
appointed to the substantive post of 
Chief Executive 

Feb 2019 Leaders Complete – both 
Councils resolved 
and Chief Executive 
appointed Feb 19

Extended Leadership 
Team need a clearer 
remit in order to 
release strategic 
capacity & clearer links 
to SLT 

1.13 Undertake a review of Senior 
and Extended Leadership roles to 
align to best deliver against the 
Council corporate themes and 
future priorities 

By Nov 
2019

Chief 
Executive

Draft directorate titles 
agreed in Feb 19 

LGA support 
commissioned to 
refine proposals  and 
consider ELT 
structure – March 19

The Councils will 
need to review the 
organisational 
structure to ensure 
it is fit for the future 

Staff struggle to know 
where to go to get 
things done in the 
current structure (role 
and responsibilities are 
unclear)

1.14 Undertake to refine the 
management structures while 
maintaining the benefits of our 
specialist and case management 
model 

1.15 Ensure we successfully 

In line with 
ELT 
restructure

Chief 
Executive

Head of HR 

Update to the 
organisation chart 
now undertaken 
when new staff 
appointed and 
regularly reviewed to 
reflect movement of 



Appendix A JWG Peer Challenge Action Plan

The LGA said…. Therefore we will by Action Owner Progress Update
implement our new approach to 
employee continuous improvement 
(including 1:1’s etc) 

April 2019 with People 
Managers

staff  

Organisational 
Development 
Strategy adopted and 
plans being 
implemented for new 
PCI approach

The organisational 
restructure should be 
informed by an audit of 
capacity pressure 
points 

1.16 Undertake a capacity Audit 
across Council service areas to 
understand our pressure points & 
report back to Members in 
September 2019 

September 
2019 

Support 
Services 
Specialist 
Manager 



Appendix A JWG Peer Challenge Action Plan

Peer Challenge Recommendation 2 

“Strengthen the councils’ political governance arrangements” 

The LGA said…. Therefore we will by Lead Progress Update
With both 
councils having 
elections in May 
2019, it will be 
essential for 
tangible progress 
to be made to 
rebuild 
relationships to 
shape the future 
vision in 
readiness for the 
new 
administrations 

2.1 Develop a comprehensive 
Member induction programme with 
an early focus on the Councils 
corporate themes and objectives. 
This will include a number of joint 
induction sessions  

2.2 Recommence joint working to 
develop an monitor progress in 
delivering this Peer Challenge 
Action plan 

2.3 Ensure that where matters for 
Member consideration impact both 
Councils, Officers undertake joint 
SHWD briefings of relevant lead 
Members at an early stage to 
enable input to shape proposals 
from the outset.  This will be driven 
by the committee forward plans.

2.4 Consider the opportunity for 
areas of Council business where 
joint committee meetings would be 
beneficial (such as scrutiny of 
effectiveness of joint service deliver 
contracts (Leisure/Waste etc) and 
make recommendation to Council

May 2019

March 2019 

April 2019  

June 2019 

Democratic 
Services Lead

Deputy Leaders

SLT  & ELT 
Members

Democratic 
Services Lead 
and Leaders

Induction timetable 
developed with 
identification of external 
trainers where required 

First meeting held 



Appendix A JWG Peer Challenge Action Plan

The LGA said…. Therefore we will by Lead Progress Update

A number of 
members did not 
appear to be able 
to balance their 
responsibility for 
council-wide and 
ward 
representation 

Members have a 
strong sense for the 
wards they 
represent but this 
should not mean 
that this should be 
of greater 
importance than a 
corporate 
perspective of what 
may be best for the 
council and wider 
area 

2.5 Ensure that Members are fully 
aware of the issues facing the 
Council and the Council priorities. 
This will be highlighted through the 
Member induction/re-induction 
programme (as set out in 2.1 
above)

May 2019 Democratic 
Services Lead  

Work to 
strengthen group 
working 
arrangements and 
discipline (West 
Devon)

If Members of Hub 
are voting differently 
in the Hub to Full 
Council, that points 
to an issue in 
making difficult 
decisions and/or 
group discipline

2.6 Evaluate the decision making 
processes within the political 
groups and the consistency/ risk of 
decision making and voting

2.7 Review the timing of Political 
Group Meetings in line with 
committee meetings 

2.8 Recommendation for political 
group leaders & political structures 
working group to work with LGA to 
inform best practice in respect of 
the recommendations in the Peer 
report (such as decision making 
powers of Hub and how/which 
decisions are referred to full 
Council)

May 2019 

May 2019 

Commence 
in May 2019

WD Political 
Group Leaders 

WD Political 
Group Leaders

WD Political  
Structures 
Working Group 

Chief Executive & 
Leader WD meeting 
with LGA Consultant 12 
March to discuss 
potential support 
available



Appendix A JWG Peer Challenge Action Plan

The LGA said…. Therefore we will by Lead Progress Update
West Devon 
Political Group 
Meetings serve 
generally as 
preparation for 
council meetings 
and miss 
opportunities to 
discuss the 
development of 
medium and longer 
term political 
aspirations

2.9 Consider refreshing the forward 
plans for Political Group Meetings 
to include medium to longer term 
political aspirations 

May 2019 West Devon 
Political Group 
Leaders 

Both Councils’ 
backbench 
members felt 
excluded from 
decision-making

 
2.10 As set out in 2.3, ensure that 
officers engage with Portfolio 
Holders / Lead Members on items 
which will require Member 
consideration early in the 
development of the proposal. This 
will in turn enable the Lead 
Member of each authority to 
engage with the wider membership 
on key proposals.

2.11 Joint Working Group will 
consider the merits of using Policy 
Advisory Groups (PAGs) to engage 
with backbench members

 

Immediate 

March 2019  

Portfolio 
Holders 

SLT/ELT 

Joint Working 
Group 

Joint Working Group 
consider whether (in the 
light of 2.11 ) further 
consideration of PAG’s 
is necessary

Review the 
councils 
constitution on 

The leader of 
WDBC chairs the 
DML Committee for 

2.12 Propose to change the 
Chairing arrangements of West 
Devon Development Management 

March 2019 Democratic 
Services 
Specialist

This has been 
considered and is being 
implemented.  DM 



Appendix A JWG Peer Challenge Action Plan

The LGA said…. Therefore we will by Lead Progress Update
which there are 
risks as highlighted 
by the Planning 
Advisory Service

Committee Procedure rules are 
being updated to clarify 
that the Leader cannot 
chair the DML 
Committee 

committee 
membership and 
chairing 
arrangements  

2.13 Ensure that Officers are 
aware of decision making powers 
of Hub / Executive in order to 
ensure that report 
recommendations reflect those 
powers – for example only 
recommending a matter to Council 
where required 

April 2019 Monitoring 
Officer / 
Democratic 
Services Lead



Appendix A JWG Peer Challenge Action Plan

Peer Challenge Recommendation 3 

“Ensure a continued organisational focus on achieving financial sustainability” 
The LGA said…. Therefore we will by Lead Progress Update
It will be important to ensure that 
financial self-sufficiency becomes 
the byword over the medium term 
and focus is maintained to 
achieve this 

3.1 Focus on the financial 
sustainability of the Councils through 
Member induction

May 2019 Strategic 
Finance & S151 
Officer

Timetable developed 

Council savings plans would 
benefit from having more detail in 
order to restore Member 
confidence in the financial 
positions 

3.2 Commence budget engagement 
with wider membership earlier than in 
the past to enable Officers and 
Members to jointly develop proposals 
for savings 

3.3 Engage with Devon Pensions on 
the Councils’ Pension Strategy 
(Actuarial Valuation) for 2020-21 
onwards

3.4 (Relates to West Devon) 
To work with the waste contractor 
(FCC) on the implementation of a 
three-weekly residual waste collection 
trial as soon as is practicable

3.5 To work with the waste contractor 
(FCC) on any opportunities for further 
savings and income generation
(e.g. by increasing the Councils’ trade 
waste offering)

July 2019 

March 2019

By end of June 
2019

By the summer 
of 2019

Strategic 
Finance & S151  
Officer 

Strategic 
Finance & S151  
Officer 

Group Manager 
for Commercial 
Services and 
S151 Officer

Group Manager 
for Commercial 
Services and 
S151 Officer

Update reports were 
presented to each 
Council’s Audit 
Committee in January 
2019

A report detailing 
potential savings and 
timescales to be 
presented to the Hub 
Committee by the end 
of June



Appendix A JWG Peer Challenge Action Plan

The LGA said…. Therefore we will by Lead Progress Update

3.6 Review all Fees and Charges for 
2020/21 onwards

3.7 Consider the level of grant for 
Town and Parish Councils for 2020/21 
onwards, for the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme

3.8 Respond to Government technical 
consultations on the design of the new 
Business Rates Reform scheme and 
the Fairer Funding Review

3.9 Keep all Members updated on 
changes to the Local Government 
Finance system (e.g. New Homes 
Bonus and Negative Revenue 
Support Grant) that will be announced 
as part of the Spending Review for 
2019

3.10 Continually monitor the savings 
plans for 2019-20 to ensure these 
remain on track

3.11 To review all Partnership Grants 
for 2020/21 

January 2020

By early 
Summer 2019

February 2019

On-going as 
announcements 
are made by 
Government

Throughout the 
year

Summer 2019 

Head of 
Finance 
Practice

Strategic 
Finance & S151  
Officer 

Strategic 
Finance & S151  
Officer 

Strategic 
Finance & S151  
Officer 

S151 Officer 
and Head of 
Finance 
Practice

Commissioning 
Manager & 
Head of 
Finance 
Practice 

Consultation responses 
have been submitted 
and sent to all 
Members and the 
Councils’ MPs



Appendix A JWG Peer Challenge Action Plan

The LGA said…. Therefore we will by Lead Progress Update
Develop new income streams, for 
example through rental income 
derived from commercial property 

3.12 Continue to explore opportunities 
for investment in commercial property, 
residential property and council 
owned assets. Individual projects will 
have their own timetable and project 
plan (setting out key dates) 

3.13 Develop proposals for income 
generation through charging for 
discretionary services or consultancy 
– such as the successful HR 
consultancy delivered to other 
Councils 

Ongoing 

April/May 2019

Group Manager 
Business 
Development 

Customer First 
Specialist 
Manager 

This is ongoing – 
funding for the 19/20 
Capital programme 
proposals approved 

Borrowing strategy in 
place 

Draft proposals have 
been developed and 
will be considered by 
Senior Leadership 
Team

£20,000 income target 
in each Council 19/20 
budget



Appendix A JWG Peer Challenge Action Plan

Peer Challenge Recommendation 4

“Prepare a viable future accommodation strategy” 
The LGA said…. Therefore we will by Lead Progress Update
In the short-term the Councils 
should investigate the 
disposal and the alternative 
use value of both councils’ 
headquarters and test with 
members the desire for 
greater use of shared 
accommodation and a 
reduction in member-only 
accommodation

4.1 Consider short term options for the future 
accommodation requirements of both Councils for 
Members to consider 

April 
2019

Head of 
Assets with 
Lead Members 

Report prepared 
for consideration 
for Hub and Exec 
March 2019 

In the longer-term 
consideration should be given 
to the councils moving to a 
new purpose-built shared 
accommodation. This could 
assist the councils’ finances 
and make a powerful 
statement in terms of working

4.2 Consider longer term options for the future 
accommodation requirements of both Councils for 
Members to consider

April 
2019

Head of 
Assets with 
Lead Members

Report prepared 
for consideration 
for Hub and Exec 
March 2019



Appendix A JWG Peer Challenge Action Plan

Peer Challenge Recommendation 5 

“Clarify partnership priorities and seek to strengthen key sub-regional partnerships” 
The LGA said…. Therefore we will by Lead Officer Progress Update

The relationship with 
Dartmoor National 
Park has many 
strengths but further 
work is needed to 
gain improved 
outcomes from it

Relationships 
between officers of 
both authorities were 
more distant than 
those of Members

5.1 Work with Dartmoor 
National Park to Identify 
areas for closer working such 
as housing, economic growth 
and tourism 

September 
2019

Customer First 
Specialist  
Manager 

Discussions are already 
taking place at Chief 
Executive level around 
potential opportunities 

Be clear on which 
partnerships derive 
the greatest value

5.2 Develop a Partnerships 
Roadmap to identify current 
partnerships, the benefits, 
the reporting structures and 
the financial contributions

5.3 Form a Joint Member 
Working Group to evaluate 
any shared partnerships

June 2019 

September 
2019 

Commissioning 
Manager 

Commissioning 
Manager / JWG 

This has commenced 
through the 
development or the 
Corporate Strategy 
themes 

Ensure the most 
relevant partnerships 
receive appropriate 
resource commitment 
and contribute in the 
delivery of shared 
priorities

The Localities model 
is capable of being 
developed further and 
could be rolled out 

5.4 Identifying (through 
dialogue with partners and 
VCS) future potential 
opportunities aligned to 
corporate strategy themes 
and on a commissioning 
basis 

5.5 Look to engage with 
partners to understand what 
opportunities are available in 
the model which have mutual 

October 
2019

March 2020

Commissioning 
Manager & JWG

Group Manager 
Customer First 
and Support 
Services 



Appendix A JWG Peer Challenge Action Plan

with partners to 
support other 
agencies’ work in the 
community

benefit and enhance support 
to our communities

Town and Parish 
Councils felt the 
relationship was 
somewhat one sided 

Engage with Parish 
and Town Councils 
earlier in respect of 
proposed service 
changes so that we 
work together to effect 
real change

5.6 Ensure that a key aspect 
of Member induction (re-
induction) is the focus on 
communicating Council key 
messages and direction to 
Town and Parish Councils 

5.7 Reinstate the Leader Key 
Messages in South Hams, 
and introduce it in West 
Devon, monthly through the 
Member Bulletin. This will 
provide Members with the 
key messages and 
discussion topics to relay to 
TAPC’s 

5.8 Consider re-establishing 
South Hams Parish Link 
meetings for key officers to 
attend along with Members to 
update on Council matters 

May 2019 

May 2019 

June 2019 

Leaders / 
Democratic 
Services Lead

Leaders

Leader SH

Member induction plan 
has been developed 
with a session to include 
focus on TAPC 
engagement



Appendix A JWG Peer Challenge Action Plan

Peer Challenge Recommendation 6 

“It will be essential to ensure clarity on what the new IT is expected to provide and confidence that it will 
deliver this”
The LGA said…. Therefore we will by Lead Officer Progress Update
There Is an expectation that 
resolving IT issues, particularly 
around the IT platform, will resolve 
most capacity issues but there is a 
lack of evidence to support this.

6.1 Ensure that any recommendations 
on the future ICT provision are based 
on comprehensive evidence 

July 2019 Group Manager 
CF & SS/ Head 
of IT / Lead 
Members 

Extension to current ICT 
platform agreed by 
Members 

Report scheduled for 
consideration by 
Members in early 
Summer 19

Work should be undertaken to 
specify future requirements and 
costs so that budget provision can 
be amended if required

6.2 Ensure we explore a wide range of 
options to ensure any future ICT 
system provides value for money and 
an good customer experience   

6.3 If required, commence a 
procurement for new technology 
solutions 

July 2019 

Autumn 
2019

Group Manager 
CF& SS/ Head 
of IT / Lead 
Members

Head of IT / 
Support 
Services 
Specialist 
Manager / Lead 
Members

Specialist ICT company 
commissioned to 
undertake evaluation – 
March 2019 



Appendix A JWG Peer Challenge Action Plan

The LGA said…. Therefore we will by Lead Officer Progress Update
Channel Shift can go further in 
order to obtain financial savings

6.4 Explore the options for further 
channel shift to enable those that can 
access services through online can do 
so easily to reduce the calls into the 
contact centre / reception – which in 
turn will enable those who do not have 
online access to contact us easier 

September 
2019 

Customer 
Contact Lead 

We continue to consider 
opportunities for further 
channel shift but a 
formal plan will be 
developed 

A significant number of IT forms 
online do not successfully link to 
the back office, leading to double-
keying and unnecessary 
interventions in the back office

6.5 Undertake a full evaluation of 
current IT forms and web site 
functionality to ensure an improved 
customer experience and reduction in 
unnecessary manual work 

June 2019 Commissioning 
Manager / 
Support 
Services 
Specialist 
Manager 

Work underway with 
changes being 
implemented to priority / 
high volume web pages 
/ forms 



Terms of Reference for the Joint Working Group for the Peer Challenge February 2019 V1

Joint Working Group - Terms of Reference 

1. Purpose 

South Hams District Council and West Devon Borough Council have agreed to set 
up a Joint Working Group (JWG) (name to be confirmed) to consider options and 
opportunities to support the future strategic political direction and oversight for the 
Councils, having regard to the recommendations of the Peer Challenge Review 
2019.  

2. Membership and quorum

 Total membership of the JWG shall not exceed 8 members and will include the 
Leaders or Deputy Leaders and each Council shall nominate up to three other 
members

 The Chair of the meeting shall be the Leader / Deputy Leader of the Council 
hosting the meeting

 Each Council will decide whether its appointees to the JWG will be politically 
balanced.  

 The quorum for meetings shall be at least two members from each Council 
 Each member of the JWG shall have one vote and issues will be decided by a 

simple majority 
 The JWG may invite consultants, specialist advisors and officers to provide 

advice and information and/or attend JWG meetings in an advisory capacity.
 

3. Meetings 

 The frequency of its meetings will be determined by the JWG  
 An agenda and associated papers will be made available to the JWG at least 5 

days before the date of the meeting 
 The venue for the meetings will normally alternate between West Devon and 

South Hams’ offices unless otherwise agreed by the JWG 
 JWG meetings will not be open to the public
 All members are entitled to attend JWG meetings but cannot participate or vote. 
 A summary of the JWG meetings will be made available to all members. 

4. Remit

 To consider the recommendations of the Peer Challenge Review as more 
particularly detailed in the Peer Challenge Action Plan (as reviewed and 
amended from time to time by the JWG) 

 The key areas under which recommendations are set out in the Peer Challenge 
Report are:

o Strategic Capacity and Direction 
o Strengthening the Councils’ political /governance arrangements



Terms of Reference for the Joint Working Group for the Peer Challenge February 2019 V1

o Continued focus on financial sustainability 
o Accommodation strategy 
o Clarity on Partnership arrangements and priorities

 To make recommendations to the Executive/Hub Committee (and/or Council as 
appropriate) on proposed actions, strategies or policies

5. Overview & Scrutiny Committee and Overview & Scrutiny Panel

 The respective Overview & Scrutiny bodies will monitor progress of the work of 
the JWG and the respective Executive and Hub Committees as against the Peer 
Challenge Action Plan 

6. Changes to the terms of reference for the Joint Working Group

 Minor amendments (as determined by [the Monitoring Officer] to the terms of 
reference may be made by the Chief Executive in consultation with the Leaders 

 Any other amendments shall be made by the respective Councils 

Date agreed: 















Appendix A – Website Survey Feedback 

 

 

2019-02-28 
01:50:19 pm 

Rubbish and recycling was not collected on Monday but your website does not allow me to report 
that after Wednesday.  Given the circumstances were unusual (temporary traffic flow system in 
place) some flexibility in your website would be helpful. 

2019-02-07 
05:19:12 pm 

Fewer missed waste collections and quicker response when they are missed. 

2019-02-07 
12:07:52 pm 

List parishes with the Ward they are in. I have no idea where Spreyton falls 

2019-02-05 
11:09:51 pm 

Looking for details on Asbestos ex link from UK Gov't site. The page says to use the search facility. 
Ther was none 

2019-02-03 
03:42:04 pm 

Update on waste and recycling collections only partially useful - it refers to "today" but no indication 
which day is/was "today" 

2019-02-01 
01:13:08 pm 

include your address on your web site under "contact us".  Is not that the whole point of inviting 
contact? 

2019-01-30 
01:22:08 pm 

Cannot get an email address to contact you about residential rates 

2019-01-28 
11:34:11 am 

Ooops.  Sorry!  I just complained about a non-working link.  I expected to see it on-screen.  I now find 
that it was downloaded! 

2019-01-28 
11:27:24 am 

The link to your letter (28/1/2019) regarding non payment of tax by second home owners did not 
work. 

2019-01-27 
05:00:33 pm 

So far I have taken 20 min to find the council tax reduction review. Then it tells me the self-employed 
form is below which it isn't. It also tells me to search online for it, so I start again. Close to tears and 
cross! 

2019-01-25 
09:38:14 pm 

weekly trash collection 

2019-01-25 
03:06:09 pm 

council tax calculator for people thinking of buying or renting a property wishing to budget for ct 
bills 

2019-01-21 
06:46:26 pm 

List of councillors by political party? 
Where is it? 

2019-01-21 
06:34:58 pm 

More telephone numbers 
More specific directions e.g. Names that we could write to i.e. regarding changes in Totnes Square.. 
I still cannot locate someone in charge so that I can write what I want.  Please put some information 
there. 



2019-01-21 
06:21:08 pm 

List of councillors by political party - no designations are shown - hardly transparent! 

2019-01-21 
10:28:39 am 

I am totally distracted by the adverts appearing on your site but when I try and bloack them I get a 
message in GERMAN!! 

2019-01-18 
05:37:22 pm 

How to write to you regarding council tax 

2019-01-17 
07:25:15 pm 

give me somewhere on your website where i can change my wife's maiden name as we have got 
married 

2019-01-17 
09:23:25 am 

The page to order recycling sacks online isn't visible 

2019-01-15 
02:46:18 pm 

I would like to ask what is the name of the tall pine trees that grow at the road entrance on the left 
as you drive out of Follaton House? 

2019-01-14 
11:12:42 am 

Provide glass recycling  
Provide more robust containers to collect papers and plastic as foxes/dogs attack the plastic bags 
over a 2 week period. 
Collect more types of plastic 

2019-01-10 
11:27:58 am 

The web site is not working for renewal of residents parking permits - Error Message "VRM do not 
match". 

2019-01-04 
03:20:05 pm 

Provide a means of accessing data about Salcombe Harbour Authority. 

2019-01-04 
11:58:05 am 

First time user 

2019-01-03 
09:12:17 pm 

The new waste collection calended is not usable 

2019-01-02 
04:47:32 pm 

Have a phone number which is answered by a live person 

2018-12-31 
02:41:59 pm 

I've tried to register for council tax but having problems with the form as it won't recognise my 
postcode or sortcode. Please can someone call me about this.  

2018-12-29 
12:18:28 pm 

The website is not designed very efficiently for mobile devices and should be of a “responsive” design 
like other government websites. I was unable to find out what waste service was being picked up on 
Monday as this information does not seem to be available. 

2018-12-27 
05:15:50 pm 

have a professional website 

2018-12-27 
04:13:34 pm 

It used to be simple to find refuse collection day but with the new site it is impossible!!!! 

2018-12-21 
10:08:26 am 

ALL 

2018-12-19 
01:32:31 pm 

A contact email address for the council should be clearly listed on your website 

2018-12-18 
06:02:19 pm 

Make it simpler for people to find the correct information when trying to update benifits 

2018-12-17 
11:53:04 am 

could find nothing about street cleaning 

2018-12-03 
02:37:25 pm 

I asked for a replacement brown bin and received an e-mail telling me that it would arrive within 10 
working days. That e-mail arrived on the 31st October ...... no new bin - any news !!!!! 

2018-11-30 
07:47:16 pm 

No way to contact Council Tax team 

2018-11-28 
01:05:29 pm 

I am trying to locate the contact name and address for your Council Solicitor/Legal Department 
please?   

2018-11-28 
12:10:59 pm 

I HAVE BEEN LOOKING FOR A WAY TO EMAIL THE COUNCIL/PLANNING. IT IS NOT CLEAR AND 
COULD BE SO EASY. WHY DO THE COUNCIL NOT PUT THE EMAIL ADDRESS WITH THE OTHER WAYS 
OF CONTACTING COUNCIL? TH EBUTTON “CONTACT US’ HAS ‘PHONE BUT NO EMAIL DISPLAYED. 

 



Appendix B – Website Survey Feedback 

Satisfaction level for ease of making a Waste request online: 

 

 

Responses from 10% of customers giving a thumbs down: 

2019-02-28 
02:48:19 pm 

Nothing is better than talk to live human being. This form is pointless. No contact or whatsoever. This is my 
second time and bins are still not empty. No way to call someone. 

2019-02-28 
09:07:04 am 

Look up address awkward 

2019-02-28 
08:53:18 am 

Delivery would be nice as this is now second time I have ordered these 

2019-02-25 
08:44:53 pm 

I requested a replacement kitchen waste recycle box ref. 1015352 . Application confirmed 31Jan. No box has 
been provided 

2019-02-25 
11:39:08 am 

making the request on the website was easy. But it was turned down for reasons that were not valid.  The bins 
were out and not contaminated. 

2019-02-23 
05:46:36 pm 

Make it simpler to tell you about a problem with waste. How about a phone line where we could leave a 
message?! 

2019-02-22 
11:01:51 am 

Actually pick up regularly without need of requests time and time again surely it would be cost effective to make 
some one responsible for checking all bins are empty especially when we as residents have to wheel our refuse 
and recycle bins over. Hundred yards to a collection point as don’t collect from individual houses at the bottom 
of Yeo Lane. Sick and tired of having to request collection. 

2019-02-21 
09:54:54 am 

Wanted to order more than one item but had to fill form in for each one. 

2019-02-20 
10:25:48 pm 

Get a decent computer program 

2019-02-20 
07:11:12 pm 

Sacks are NOT available at Ivybridge Watermark anymore. 

2019-02-19 
02:15:02 pm 

Provide a telephone number so that one can speak to a person please. 

2019-02-19 
12:47:41 pm 

Clarity on container description. I was looking for a compost caddy! I had to research which this was and it’s 
described as a large curb side caddy! The word compost would be useful to identify it! I don’t want a massive 
thing, probably about 15-20L! So I’m hoping I’ve ordered the right one! 

2019-02-18 
11:26:14 am 

Find a human who can answer my problem 

2019-02-15 
12:10:06 pm 

Place check boxes underneath each item not above 

2019-02-14 
12:32:02 pm 

Hello, I need both recycling boxes please but the site only allows a request for one. Thank you 

2019-02-14 
12:05:12 pm 

supply a phone number as people are waiting on the answer. 

2019-02-12 
04:47:54 pm 

you asked whether the missed collection was due today. No, it was due yesterday, but there was no chance to 
say that and it is crucial. So I chose yes, due today, what happens now??? 

2019-02-12 
12:40:07 pm 

I as many others are NOT tech savvy and need help to use these idiotic 'improvements' what happened to phone 
conversations where at least one Knew contact had been made insteat of sending off instructions into the ether  



Satisfaction level for ease of making a Development Management request online: 

 

 

Responses from 33% of customers giving a thumbs down: 

2019-02-28 
05:56:21 pm 

would have liked to talk to planning officer 

2019-02-19 
06:19:36 pm 

Have a general planning email address to send enquiries to. 

2019-02-19 
02:05:04 pm 

make website more graphical and less text based 

2019-02-15 
02:27:56 pm 

just give me an email address to use 

2019-02-14 
12:48:07 pm 

Access shouldn't be via "ask a planning question" 

2019-02-13 
10:56:17 pm 

I have found it very hard to make an objection to a planning application and even now i am not 
sure it will be on the website by the closing date of 15/2/19.  I would really appreciate your help. 

2019-02-13 
09:46:17 am 

I was not able to ask my question or attach my objection 

 

 



Report to: South Hams Executive 

Date: 14 March 2019

Title: Grounds Maintenance Review

Portfolio Area: Environment Services

Wards Affected: All

Relevant Scrutiny Committee:

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained:

Y 

Date next steps can be taken:  

Author: Cathy Aubertin Role: Head of Environment 
Services Practice

Contact: Cathy.Aubertin@swdevon.gov.uk

Recommendations:  

It is recommended that the Executive approve the approach suggested 
in respect of a best value review of the current grounds maintenance 
service.

1. Executive summary 
1.1 This report requests that Members endorse the proposal to review 

the current Grounds Maintenance service in South Hams in respect 
of efficiency and quality. This is with a view to ensuring the service 
has been health checked before a plan for service growth is 
developed.

2. Background 
2.1 Members will be aware that Grounds Maintenance in South Hams is 

provided by an in-house team.

2.2 In order to continue to demonstrate value for money, it is 
recommended that the service be bench-marked and tested for 
efficiency and effectiveness.

file://swdevon.lan/data/documents/Environment%20Services/Corporate/Council%20reports/2016/O&S/Cathy.Aubertin@swdevon.gov.uk


2.3 Whilst it is felt that the in-house service provides a good quality 
service and value for money, evidencing this would enable officers to 
develop the service further and assess the feasibility of providing a 
Grounds Maintenance service to West Devon Borough Council and 
other customers in the future, if best value can be demonstrated.

2.4 The Grounds Maintenance service has improved over the last few 
years and this is demonstrated by the accolades received, absence 
of complaints and repeat contract work being secured for Town and 
Parish Councils.

3. Next steps

3.1 Officers will benchmark the current service against other similar 
operations. This will include a review of service cost and quality, and 
will also include an assessment of our performance against the 
different types of work which we carry out within the team, eg pitch 
maintenance, grounds maintenance, tree maintenance, formal bed 
planting.

3.2 Officers will audit the resources and skills currently contained within 
the team. This work area is one which benefits from the use of 
apprentice placements, which not only provide valuable team 
members but ensure continual local training for apprentices within 
the South Hams.  An extension of the work could offer an ability to 
increase our apprentice placements.

3.3 It is intended to carry out the review during the upcoming season 
when work can be assessed throughout a growing period. A report of 
the finding would then be brought back to the Executive in the 
autumn 2019.

3.4 During the 2018/19 budget process Members identified this service 
as an area for potential income generation in the future. This service 
benchmarking exercise will provide the baseline data from which to 
develop a business case for the future extended sale of services.

4. Outcomes/outputs 

4.1 A further update will be provided to Members following the review of 
the 2019 summer period.

5. Options available and consideration of risk 

5.1 Not for consideration at this stage.

6. Implications 



Implications Relevant 
to 
proposals 
Y/N 

None at this stage. 

Legal/Governance Y The Council has a duty to monitor and review its 
use of resources in order to protect the public 
purse and to ensure transparency in its 
arrangements.

Financial N N/ A at this stage.

Risk N N/ A at this stage.

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications

Equality and 
Diversity

N N/ A at this stage.

Safeguarding No implications.  

Community 
Safety, Crime 
and Disorder

None.

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing

None.

Other 
implications

None.

Supporting Information

Approval and clearance of report

Process checklist Completed
Portfolio Holder briefed Yes/No
SLT Rep briefed Yes/No
Relevant  Exec Director sign off (draft) Yes/No
Data protection issues considered Yes/No
If exempt information, public (part 1) report 
also drafted. (Cabinet/Scrutiny)

Yes/No

Appendices





Report to: Executive  

Date: 14 March 2019 

Title: Employee Terms and Conditions of 
Employment

Portfolio Area: Leader

Wards Affected: All

Relevant Scrutiny Committee:  Overview and Scrutiny Panel

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained:

Y 

Date next steps can be taken: After Call In 5pm 
Monday 25 March, 
2019

Author: Michelle Hodgkiss Role: Interim Head of Human 
Resources Practice

Contact: michelle.hodgkiss@swdevon.gov.uk 

Recommendations:  That Executive RESOLVES to:

1.note the options available in respect of employee terms and conditions as 
set out in this report

2. agree that the Head of HR Practice, in consultation with the Chief Executive 
and Trade union representatives

 Develop a policy that enables employees to purchase additional annual 
leave 

 Develop a policy for unpaid career breaks 
 Review the Managing Attendance Policy and present recommendations 

to Senior Leadership Team by September 2019 
 Review the Essential User Car Allowance Scheme and eligibility by 

September 2019 
 Review the Councils Redundancy scheme by March 2020 

1. Executive summary
1.1. At its meeting in September 2018, Council resolved to continue with the 

Local Government Terms and Conditions of Employment Green Book for 
at least 2019/20 and resolved that officers review all options for reducing 
staff costs by varying terms from the Green Book from 2020/21, with an 
initial report back by the end of 2018/19.

mailto:michelle.hodgkiss@swdevon.gov.uk


1.2. This Report focusses on two main aspects. First, it considers the current 
contractual situation, the presence of the national joint collective 
bargaining machinery and the legal considerations to be taken into 
account if changes in terms and conditions were proposed. Second, the 
Report looks at a number of options pursued by other local authorities. In 
conclusion, the Report makes one recommendation to promote the 
purchase of additional annual leave by employees. 

2. Background

2.1. The combined expenditure on salary and associated costs for the two 
Councils is £16.33m per annum and accounts for 23.9% of gross 
expenditure. A number of other local authorities have implemented 
changes to the terms and conditions of employment to reduce 
expenditure.  

2.2. The Council is a part of the National Joint Council for Local Government 
Services. This is the national collective bargaining machinery under which 
local authorities across the country negotiate on pay and other collective 
terms and conditions of employment. The Agreement reached is 
contained with the ‘Green Book’ and is incorporated into employee’s 
contracts of employment. 

2.3. The Green Book is divided into sections. The main contractual terms of 
employment are contained within Part 2 of the Agreement and can only 
be amended through the national collective agreement with the 
recognised trade unions. The employers’ side is represented by the Local 
Government Association.  Part 3 of the Green Book does permit 
amendment by local collective agreement with the local recognised trade 
unions.   

2.4. The same provisions apply to employees who are not members of 
recognised trade unions. During any period of consultation over a 
proposed change in terms and conditions of employment, the Council 
would invite non-trade union members to put forward ideas and 
suggestions for consideration, although agreed changes would be 
implemented under a collective agreement.

2.5. The Council is very unlikely to secure a collective agreement with the 
recognised trade unions that varies the terms of Part 2 of the Green 
Book. The trade unions hold a firm national line in order to protect 
national collective bargaining and would not permit local variations. Local 
agreement could be reached for terms within Part 3. However, this is 
limited to terms such as car allowances and additional payments for 
overtime and out of hours working and the Council has successfully 
reached collective agreements in the past few years on these issues to 
reduce expenditure. 

2.6. In the absence of a collective agreement, the Council could consider 
giving notice to dismiss employees and make an offer to reengage them 
on the amended terms and conditions. This would amount to a dismissal 
in law and the Council would be vulnerable to multiple claims of unfair 
dismissal.

2.7. Such an approach would also damage employee relations. It would 
adversely affect future constructive dialogue, consultation and negotiation 
with the trade unions and would have a significantly adverse impact on 



employee morale and goodwill. The dismissal and re-engagement of 
employees is not a recommended course of action.  

2.8. The Council could withdraw from the Local Government Association and 
sever its ties with national collective bargaining. This in itself could 
amount to an action that goes to the heart of the employment contract 
and be challenged by the trade unions that it amounts to a dismissal and 
reengagement on new terms and conditions. If the Council was able to 
move away from the national agreement without, in effect, dismissing 
employees from their existing contact of employment, it would leave the 
Green Book terms and conditions as part of individual contracts of 
employment but future changes, including national pay awards, would 
not be binding. As a result, the Council would need to conduct its own 
pay negotiation and reach its own settlement with trade unions and 
employees. Whilst withdrawing from the Green Book would remove the 
restriction on making changes to key terms and conditions of 
employment, the Council would still be subject to the normal employment 
law regulations about changing terms and conditions in a fair and 
reasonable way. 

2.9. The Council should also be mindful of s145B of Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidated) Act 1992 which prohibits a worker who is a 
member of a trade union from being offered revised terms and conditions 
of employment that are no longer subject to collective bargaining with a 
recognised trade union. This provision was recently used by individuals 
employed by London Borough of Bromley when faced with a unilateral 
decision to move away from national pay collective bargaining in favour 
of local pay bargaining. The Council was heavily fined by the Employment 
Tribunal for being in breach of the law. 

3. Outcomes/outputs
3.1. The table below illustrates the options for making changes to terms and 

conditions. It is based on research carried out by Local Government 
Association on changes made by authorities across the country. There are 
not many councils attempting to make such changes. 

3.2. As the employees are shared across both Councils, the figures stated  in 
the table are the total across both. 

Proposed Options Consequence and risk Projected 
saving 

Recommendation

To withdraw from 
the National Joint 
Council and 
negotiate local pay 
awards and other 
changes to terms 
and conditions

The risks identified are in 
the Introduction and 
further legal advice would 
be needed before any 
action taken.

Although the Councils’ 
can influence the 
outcome of national pay 
negotiations through 
participation at a regional 
level, the Agreements 
reached do reflect 
national concerns rather 

The recent 
two-year 
national 
pay award 
of 2% per 
year on 
most 
spinal 
column 
points 
increased 
the annual 
salary bill 
by 

This option is not 
recommended. 

However, it is 
recommended 
that the Head of 
HR continues to 
monitor the 
impact of national 
agreements on 
pay and 
conditions of 
service to make 
sure the impact 



than local issues. For 
example, the recent two 
year pay award was 
‘bottom loaded’ to 
mitigate the impact of the 
rising national living 
wage. This was not an 
issue for the Councils’ as 
we do not employ many 
employees in the 
traditional low paid local 
government jobs in social 
services and education. 
The impact was that the 
increase in the Councils’ 
wage bill was less than it 
would have been if the 
overall increase was 
evenly distributed 
amongst all spinal column 
points. The changes to 
the national pay spine 
were also driven by the 
impact of the national 
living wage, but the 
Councils’ were able to 
adapt to the new pay 
spine without serious cost 
or disadvantage to 
employees. 

£200,000 
pa. This 
would be 
offset by 
any local 
agreement 
on pay.  

on the Councils’ is 
not 
disproportionate 
or 
disadvantageous. 

To reduce the 
contractual working 
week to 36 for 
existing staff 

Require collective 
agreement with trade 
unions to vary Green 
Book or to dismiss and 
re-engage all employees.

It would reduce both the 
hours and income of 
employees by 
approximately 3%. For an 
employee on median 
earnings that would 
represent a loss of 
approximately £750 if we 
introduced a 36 hour 
week.  

It would reduce capacity 
and potentially have an 
adverse impact on service 
delivery and employee 

Circa 
£250K per 
annum for 
36 hour  
week

This option is not 
recommended 
given it would 
reduce capacity 
and potentially 
have an adverse 
impact on service 
delivery and 
employee 
financial well-
being



financial well-being. 

To reduce 
contractual working 
week to 36 for new 
appointments 

Require variation from 
Green Book or agreement 
from new starters to 
agree to work reduced 
hours. 

It would create a two-tier 
workforce and potentially 
make it harder to attract 
strong candidates for 
vacant posts. It will also 
have an adverse impact 
on service delivery. 

The proposal is also 
potentially discriminatory 
if a significant number of 
new appointees share the 
same characteristic 
protected under the 
Equalities Act, e.g. 
gender or age profile

Limited 
savings 
due to 
reliance 
on  
turnover 
of staff

This option is not 
recommended as 
it would create a 
two-tier workforce 
and an adverse 
impact on service 
delivery. 

To offer employees 
the opportunity to 
purchase additional 
annual leave. 

Develop and promote a 
policy that would give 
employees the ability to 
request the purchase of 
additional annual leave, 
with the cost spread over 
an agreed period.

The Council would retain 
discretion on whether to 
agree to the purchase of 
additional leave.  

Take up might be limited, 
thereby reducing target 
savings. If there is 
significant take up there 
would be an impact on 
capacity to deliver 
services and the potential 
cost of funding a 
replacement officer.

It may be welcome by 
some employees and 
supports the Councils’ 
commitment to improving 

Based on 
median 
earnings, 
each week 
purchased 
by an 
employee 
would 
generate 
an income 
of £425 
per week 

It is 
recommended 
that a policy is 
developed by 
Head of HR and, 
subject to 
discussion with 
trade unions and 
the wider 
workforce, it is 
approved and 
implemented by 
the Chief 
Executive.



the well-being of staff 
and developing an agile 
and flexible workforce. 

To offer employees 
the opportunity to 
take an unpaid 
Career Break

Although employees 
already have opportunity 
to request a career break 
or time off work to 
undertake voluntary 
work, a revised policy 
could be promoted and 
employees encouraged to 
participate. 

The Council would retain 
discretion to approve any 
request for a career break 
and may take into 
account the impact and 
service delivery or the 
cost of delivering the 
service in an alternative 
way.

A career break can help 
retain employees and 
enable them to pursue an 
interest or development 
opportunity without 
leaving the Council. 

Based on 
median 
earnings, 
the 
Council 
would 
reduce its 
salary 
costs by 
£400 per 
week per 
employee 

It is 
recommended 
that a policy is 
developed by 
Head of HR and, 
subject to 
discussion with 
trade unions and 
the wider 
workforce, it is 
approved and 
implemented by 
the Chief 
Executive.

Require all 
employees to take 2 
days of unpaid leave 
per year 

Require collective 
agreement to vary 
Councils’ Annual leave 
Policy or to dismiss and 
re-engage all employees.

Any new policy would 
need to meet minimum 
statutory and Green Book 
holiday entitlements.

The requirement to take 
unpaid leave would have 
some adverse impact on 
service delivery and on 
the financial well-being of 
staff. 

The saving 
on the 
annual 
salary 
budget 
would be 
approxima
tely £55K 
pa 

This option is not 
recommended as 
it would have an 
adverse impact 
on service 
delivery and the 
financial well-
being of 
employees.

Make changes to 
Green Book sickness 
scheme by one or 
more of the 

Require collective 
agreement or dismissal 
and re-engagement. The 
proposal would be a ‘red 

It is 
difficult to 
attach a 
cost to 

It is not 
recommended. 
However, it is 
recommended 



following:
1. Withhold sick 

pay for either 
first 1, 2 or 3 
days of 
absence 

2. Reduce sick 
pay 
entitlement 
for long term 
absence by 
either 
reducing 
length of paid 
and unpaid 
sick pay or 
increasing 
qualifying 
period of 
continuous 
service

3. Introduce 
either 
provision for 
new starters 
only

line’ for the trade unions 
and would be very 
unpopular with 
employees

The Green Book sickness 
scheme is seen as a ‘gold 
standard’ compared to 
the private sector. The 
Councils’ absence levels 
are higher than the 
private sector, although 
broadly in line with other 
parts of the public sector.

The removal of sick pay 
in the early stages of 
illness could encourage 
‘presenteeism’, where 
employees continue to 
work when not fit to do 
so.

The reduction of sick pay 
for longer term absences 
will adversely impact 
employees with long 
standing medical 
conditions or life 
threatening or debilitating 
conditions and leaving 
them potentially 
vulnerable to financial 
hardship.

Introducing a revised 
scheme for new starters 
will create a two-tier 
workforce and is 
potentially discriminatory 
if a significant number of 
appointees share a 
characteristic protected 
under the Equality Act, 
e.g. gender or age 
profile.

The Council already has a 
robust approach to 
managing attendance, 
including the requirement 

sickness 
absence. 
In many 
cases, 
there is no 
additional 
cost as 
the work 
is 
allocated 
to a 
colleague 
or not 
carried 
out.  

that the Head of 
HR revisits the 
Managing 
Attendance policy 
in consultation 
with key people 
managers to 
make sure it 
provides a robust 
process for the 
effective 
management of 
staff absence. The 
Head of HR 
should make 
recommendations 
for changes to the 
policy to SLT by 
September 2019.   

It is further 
recommended 
that Internal 
Audit carry out an 
audit on how the 
Policy is 
implemented and 
to make 
recommendations 
to inform the 
review. 



to make personal contact 
with a manager at the 
start of absence, a Return 
to Work interview and the 
use of the Bradford 
Factor to measure and 
monitor absence levels. 

There is also an 
expectation that 
employees will, from time 
to time, be unable to 
work through illness that 
is no fault of their own 
and that the Managing 
Attendance policy will 
identify and robustly 
tackle anyone who is 
regularly absent or where 
a pattern of absence 
emerges. 

New starters are subject 
to a probationary period 
that includes scrutiny 
over attendance levels 
and an employee with 
poor attendance may not 
pass the probationary 
period. 

Reduce the mileage 
allowance below the 
current rate of 45p 

Reach a collective 
agreement to vary the 
Green Book provisions 
and the Councils’ Travel 
and Subsistence Policy.

The HMRC currently allow 
an employee to claim 45p 
per mile before incurring 
a tax liability. This is the 
rate currently payable by 
the Councils.

 The Government website 
on Advisory Fuel rates 
suggests a rate of 22p 
per mile to reflect the 
cost of fuel. However, 
this does not include the 
cost of wear and tear and 

A 
reduction 
of 1p per 
mile in the 
allowance 
would 
bring an 
approxima
te annual 
saving of 
£1200 at 
South 
Hams and 
£800.  

It is not 
recommended, 
although the 
Head of HR 
should review the 
current essential 
car user 
allowance and 
eligibility criteria 
and report to 
Chief Executive 
by September 
2019. 



other factors taken into 
account by the HMRC 
rate. 

The Council has already 
significantly reduced the 
Essential Car User 
Allowance by 40% to 
£603pa and also reduced 
the number of eligible 
employees by revising 
the qualification criterion.

The Council does rely on 
the use of employee’s 
private cars for effective 
service delivery. 

To review the 
discretions exercised 
by the Councils 
under the Local 
Government (Early 
Termination of 
Employment) 
(Discretionary 
Compensation) 
(England and Wales) 
Regulations 2006

The Councils have a duty 
under the Local 
Government (Early 
Termination of 
Employment) 
(Discretionary 
Compensation) (England 
and Wales) Regulations 
2006 to formulate, 
publish and keep under 
review its discretionary 
powers under sections 5 
and 6 of the Regulations.

Under s5, the Councils 
can calculate the amount 
of a redundancy payment 
based on an employees’ 
actual weekly pay rather 
than the statutory cap on 
a weeks’ pay. This 
discretion is currently 
applied.

Under s6, the Councils 
can increase the amount 
of a redundancy payment 
so long as it does not 
exceed 104 week’s pay. 

Under s6, the Council 
currently enhances the 

There are 
no 
proposals 
to make 
large scale 
redundanc
ies so the 
saving will 
be 
minimal. 

It is 
recommended 
that the Head of 
HR brings a 
report to Council 
to review the 
exercise of its 
discretions under 
the Regulations 
by no later than 
31 March 2020. 



statutory redundancy 
payment payable by a 
factor of 2.  

4. Options available and consideration of risk
4.1 The options available and consideration of risk is set out in the table 

above. 

5. Proposed Way Forward 
5.1. It is recommended that the Council approve the option to develop and 

promote a policy to enable employees to request the purchase of 
additional annual leave and to request an unpaid career break. 

5.2. It is recommended that the Head of HR continues to monitor the impact 
on the Councils of national agreements on pay and conditions of service 
and reports to the Chief Executive annually.

5.3. It is recommended that the Head of HR revisits the Managing Attendance 
Policy and makes any recommendations for change to SLT by September 
2019.

5.4. It is recommended that the Head of HR reviews the essential car user 
annual allowance and the eligibility criteria 

5.5. It is recommended that the Council reviews the exercise of its discretions 
under the Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) 
(Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006 by 
March 2020. 

5.6. All other proposals set out in section 3.2 are not recommended. 

6. Implications

Implications Relevant 
to 
proposals 
Y/N 

Details and proposed measures to address 

Legal/Governance Y The terms and conditions of employees are 
governed by the contract of employment, 
incorporating National Agreement on Pay and 
Conditions of Service (the Green Book). There are 
legal restrictions in employment law on the ability 
of the Council to make unilateral changes to terms 
and conditions of employment. The Council is also 
part of the national collective bargaining machinery 
which limits its ability to make local decisions on 
terms and conditions of employment. 

The Council have an obligation to review the 
discretions exercised under the Local Government 
(Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary 
Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 
2006

Financial Y The recommendations as set out in this report will 



potentially have financial implications for the 
Council. All options recommended for further 
exploration would seek to reduce costs. It is not 
however recommended at this time to make 
adjustments to the Councils Medium Term Financial 
Plan given the majority of recommendations would 
not be implemented until the next financial year at 
the earliest. 

Risk Y Any changes to terms and conditions employment 
that are perceived as disadvantageous by staff 
could adversely affect staff morale and 
performance. This would have a negative impact on 
service delivery and customer satisfaction. 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications

Equality and 
Diversity

Y An equality impact assessment would need to 
undertaken before any changes in terms and 
conditions of employment are implemented to 
make sure they do not have an unlawful adverse 
impact on any group of employers with a protected 
characteristic under the Equality Act. 

Safeguarding N There are no safeguarding implications.  

Community 
Safety, Crime 
and Disorder

N There are no potential positive or negative impact 
on crime and disorder reduction

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing

Y Changes that adversely affect employees could 
have a negative impact on their well-being, both 
emotionally and financially. 

Supporting Information

Appendices:

None

Background Papers:
None 

Approval and clearance of report

All reports must have Finance Service clearance and Legal Service clearance.  
Your report will only receive clearance if the implications in Section 6 are 
considered by the Finance and Legal Services to be complete and accurate.  
Make sure you contact the Finance Service and the Legal Service early on for 
advice where there are potentially financial or legal implications.  If there are 



other resource implications you must forward your report to the appropriate 
Head of Service for clearance.  If those clearing the report make amendments 
they will advise you of that fact and refer you to the relevant changes.  As report 
author you are responsible for finalising the report and its content but you are 
required to have regard to the comments of the Finance and Legal Services and 
clear reasons for not following their advice.  

Process checklist Completed
Portfolio Holder briefed Yes
SLT Rep briefed Yes
Relevant  Exec Director sign off (draft) Yes
Data protection issues considered Yes
If exempt information, public (part 1) report 
also drafted. (Cabinet/Scrutiny)

NA






















	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	5 Public Question Time
	6 Draft Executive Forward Plan
	7 Ivybridge Development Proposal Update
	Appendix A - Vox Pop Summary - Jan 2019
	Appendix B - Ivybridge Feasibility Study including Indicative car park layouts

	8 Community Housing Delivery - Capital Requirements
	Appendix 1: Community Housing Project Schedule
	Exempt Appendix 2: Cash-flow forecast
	EXEMPT - Appendix 3 Scheme details

	9 Public Toilet Project
	Appendix A – summary of resolutions and actions taken to date
	Appendix B – Salcombe proposal

	10 Peer Challenge Action Plan
	Appendix A – Peer Challenge Action Plan
	Appendix B – Joint Working Group Draft Terms of Reference

	11 Customer Satisfaction Action Plan Progress
	Appendix A – Website Survey Feedback
	Appendix B – Waste and Development Management Survey Feedback

	12 Grounds Maintenance Review
	13 Employee Terms and Conditions of Employment
	15 Coastal Assets Service Update
	16 Accommodation Strategy - Follaton House
	EXEMPT Appendix A – May 2018 options assessment report
	EXEMPT Appendix B - Plan of Arboretum
	EXEMPT Appendix C - Terms of Reference for Accom Working Group 2.2019


